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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) l:l Injured Workers™ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
. ' ) SS. D Rate Adjustmem Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON ) D Second Injury Fund ($8(¢)18)
Ej PTD/Fatal denied
Eﬂ Noe of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ESEQUIEL IRACHETA,

Petitioner,
vs. - | ~ No. 09 WC 20467 & 14 WC 10550
' 19 TWCC 446
CITY OF CHICAGO
Respondent -

ORDER

This matter comes before the Comrmssmn on Respondent s Motion to Recall Commission
Decision pursuant to Section 19(f). On consideration of the decision at issue, the Commlssmn
finds there is no ciencal error. Therefore Respondent’s Pet1t10n 1S demed

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent’s Motion to
Recall Commission Decision is hereby denied.

DATED:  SEP 30 2019 etk A Mempairn

Deborah I.. Simpson

DLS/dw
46



16WC 22280

19IWCC05_30
STATE OF ILLINOIS } BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION
R _ }SS ' COMMISSION '

COUNTY OF COOK )
Miguel Arambula,

Petitioner,

Vs. NO. 16WC 22280
' 19IWCC0530
City of Chicago, -
Respondent.

ORDER OF RECALL UNDER SECTION 19(f)

k

The Commission recalls the Decision and Opinion on Review of the linois Workers
Compensation Commission dated September 26, 2019, pursuant to Section 19(f) of the Act
duetoa ciemcal erTor. .

AT IS THEREFO.RE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision and
Opinion on Review dated September 26, 2019 is hereby recalled and a Corrected Decision
and Oplmon on Review is hereby 1ssued simultaneously. ' -

The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall file with
the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in the Circuit Court.

pAaTED: OCT 15 2019
SM/s;j
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Stephen I. Mathls
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Pagel
STATE OF E_LLINOIS ) D Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) S8S. D Affirm with changes D Rate Adjustment Fund (§3(g))
COUNTY OF COOK ) [:] Reverse D Second 1njury Fund (§8(e)18)
[ ] PTD/Fatal denied
]Z] Modify Ez' None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

MIGUEL ARAMBULA,
Petitioner,
vS. NO. 16 WC 22280
19IWCC0530
CITY OF CHICAGO,
Respondent.

CORRECTED DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Respondent herein and notice given
to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issue of nature and extent of permanent
disability and being advised of the facts and law, modifies the Decision of the Arbitrator as
stated below and otherwise affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbltrator which is attached
hereto and made a part hereof.

Permane'nt Disabilitv

The Commission vrews the evidence dszerently with respect to Section 8.1b(b) factors
(iv) and (V) ' :

(1v) the employee S future earnmg eapa(:lty

Petmoner returned full duty to his pre- 1nJury jobasa Iaborer ona garbage truck
foilowmg surgery fora nght medial meniscus tear. Thereafter he transitioned to a different
position with respondent in the rodent centroi department that was less phys1cally challenging.
Petitioner sustained no wage loss as a result of his work i mjury ’Fhe Commrssmn ﬁnds this factor
we1ghs in favor of deereased permanent dlsab1hty R :



16 WC 022280
19IWCC0530 '
Page 2

(V) ev1dence of d1sab11zty corroborated by treating medical records

Petitioner completed a two- week work conditioning program and was retumed to full-
duty employment by his treating physwzan Dr. Maday. Petitioner last sought medical treatment
on November 16, 2016 at which time Dr. Maday determined that he was at MML The
Commission finds that Petitioner has not sought further medacal treatment since that time and
that this factor welghs in favor of decreased dlsab111ty

Havmg wel ghed the ev1dence and _anaiyzed the Section 8.1b(b) factors, the Coinmission
finds Petitioner sustained a 27.5% loss of use of the right leg.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall 'pay to
Petitioner the sum of $755.22 per week for a period of 59,125 weeks, as provided in §8e) of the
Act, for thc reason that the i injuries sustamed caused the loss of use of 27.5% of use of the nght

leg.

. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
mterest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

o ITIS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
or, all amounts pa1d if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental 1 1njury

No bond is requlred for removaﬁ of thlS cause to the Cll‘Clll'E Court.

The party commencmg the proceedmgs for review in the Clrcult Court shall file with the
Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in the Circuit Court.

DATED: 0cT 15 2019
d-10-1-19 :
SM/msb
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L Ehza‘oeth Coppo e t1 |

' DISSENT

I respectfully dissent. 1 wouEd adopt and affirm the well-reasoned Decislon of the

Arbltrator B .

Douglas D McCarthy o







191WCC0530

| STATEOFILLINOIS

e e Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d)) -
R R )SS o E] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTYOF COOK Co ';.) o . Second: In_]uryFund (§8(e)18)
IR S s - '_.Noneoftheabove
ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COI\'IPENSATION COMMISSION
: ARBITRATION DECISION o
NATURE AI\D EXTENT ONLY

‘Miguel Arambula U Case#16 WC 22280
EmployecPotioner o S R S e el
v Ll e 'Consolidated caSe_s':"_r_l_La_
City of Chicago o SR B

Employer/Respondent = -

The only dlsputed issue is the nature and extent of the mjury An Applzcatzon fot Aayuszment of Clam't was ﬁled
in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Molly
Ma_sqn_ Arbitrator of the Corn.zni_sston_ 1n th_e eity of Chicago on_ 3[ 1 8/‘19 .: IB_y stipula’non th_e_partle.s. agree_.
On the da.te of acc.ldent 4/ 1 2/ 1 6 Respondent was oneratmg under and su‘oj ect to the provmons of the Act

On this date the relatlonship of emp}oyee and employer dld exzst between Petltloner and Respondent |

On thlS date Petltloner sustamed an a001dent that arose out of and in the course of empioyment

Tnnely not1ce of this aeadent was gtven to Respondent.

Petttloner s current eond;tlon of 111 belng 1s causally reiated to the a.celdent |

In the year precedmg the mJury, Petlnoner earned $72 746 01 and the average weekly wage was $1 398 96

| At the tnne of 1nJury, Petltloner was 59 years of age mamed wzth 0 dependent chﬂdren

Necessary medxcal servrces and temporary compensatlon beneﬁts have been prov1ded by Respondent

Respondent shall be given a credlt of $26 648 28 for TTD $0 for TPD $0 for mamtenance and 30 for other

Denents fora totai crecnt ot :Mb b48_28 —

_ICArbDec]\&E 7/]0 I(JD 8 Randolph Street #8 700 Chicago, IL 60601 317/814 6611 - Toll-free 866/352-3033 - Heb site: www.iwee, rlgm
Donnstare oﬁ{'ces Collmm ille 618/346 3450 Peoria 309/67] 30]9 Rockfom‘ 81.)/987 ?797 Sp} mgfe!d 217/785-7084 :




o After rev1ew1ng all of the ewdence presented the Arbltrator hereby makes ﬁndmgs regardmg the nature and
: __extent of the 1n3ury, and attaches the ﬁndmgs to thlS document o :

'ORDER

-'Respondent shall pay Petttloner the surn of $755 22/week for a further penod of 75. 25 weeks as prov1ded in
‘ .Sectton 8(e) of the Act, because the m}urles sustamed caused 35% Ioss of use of the nght leg

. Respondent shall pay Petlttoner compensaﬂon that has accrued from 11/ 1 6]1 6 through 31 811 9, and shall pay
the remamder of the award xf any, in weekly payments LT _

_RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a Petmon for Rev1ew is ﬁled w1th1n 30 days after recelpt of this decxsmn '
and a review is perfected in accordance w1th the Act and Rules then thlS dec:1s1on shall be entered as the
dec1s1on of the 001mn1551011 Dol L

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commlssmn rev1ews this award mterest at the rate set forth on the Nottce
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment however
1f an employee s appeal results in either 1no change ora decrease in ’EhiS award mterest shali notaccrue. :

43119

_'SignatureofArbitr'ator o ' . Date .

lcmné_csaap? : o o APRA—zmg




L '_'Mlguel Arambulav Crty ofChlcago PR - 5 3 0
mapmeindiee 1_taooa;
. Summary of Dlsputed issues

The parties agree that Pet;troner mjured his nght knee whlle workmg asa laborer/garbage

*collector for Respondent on April 12, 2016 Petrtaoner underwent rrght knee surgery on Julv 25 2016

and was released to full duty.in October 2016 Petrtloner testlﬂed he returned to-his laborer. duties at
that point but wore a knee brace ona dasly basis at the recommendatlon of h:s surgeon, Dr Maday

L _'Pet:ttoner further testsﬁed he contenued performmg hlS laborer dutres unt!l April 2018, at Wthh point he '

transferred to Respondent $ rodent control division’ at hls request He testlfled he requested the _
transfer-due to ongoing rlght knee pam and instability. He acknowledged he has not undergone any '
- additlonal raght knee ‘care ssnce h|s last \nsrt to Dr. Maday in November 2016 N :

'The sole dEsputed issue Es_ n_ature and extent. Arb Exh 1._ '
: _Arbrtrator s Fmdrngs of Fact SR '

_ Petrteoner testlﬁed he worked asa laborer for Respondent 5 Department of Streets and
: Samtatron as oprnl 12, 2016 His job consisted of collecting garbage in alleys. He spent part of each
_ workday waiktng ‘When hls crew changed “lines,” he would ride on the back of the garbage truck to the
- next locatlon ‘He held onto a bar and stood on a step that was about 18 |nches above ground Eevel
: whlle rldmg on the back of the truck ' - - :

: _ Petlttoner demed havmg any rlght knee probtems before nls rnjury on Apnl 12 2016 On that '
_ date he was r;dmg on the back of the garbage truck i inan atley beh;nd 1{)8th Place There were some
' _tree branches blocktng part of the aliey He began 10 get down from the back of the truck so that he -
_couid move the branches. As he stepped down; his right foot came mto contact with a rock. " His rsght
leg bent backward He felt an abrupt onset of pain in his r;ght knee. After ﬁnlshrng his shn‘t ‘he notified
his supervusor ‘of the accident and went to an office. He verbally reported the accident to a clerk who
told him to return the hext morning to compiete a wntten report He completed this report the
foliowrng day and was then sent to MercyWorks S ' :

The MercyWorks records (PX 1) reflect that Petlt:oner saw Dr Ah on Apnt 13, 2016. 'i'he doctor _
recorded a tonsistent hastory of the work accadent and noted t’nat Pet:tloner rated his right knee pain at
6 7/10 He descnbed Petrtloner as walking wrth a mild lrmp On right knee exammat{on, he noted mild-
duﬂ’use sweilmg and mild diffuse- tendemess mostty overthe medlal joint l:ne He also noted a full range
of motron with ‘pain on forward flex:on McMurray s testing was equwocal Rightknee X—rays showed -
'mlld rnedtal and pateliofemoral compartment narrowmg Dr. Alr d;agnosed a nght knee sprasn He took -
Petltloner off work and prescnbed an elastrc support and Motr:n PX 1 : S

On Apnl 18, 2016 Petltioner returned to MercyWorks and saw a drfferent physmlan Dr. Dladuia
The doctor noted’ a complalnt of 8- 9/10 rtght knee pam poppang and mstablllty He tnducated that
. Pettttoner reported being unable 10 put much we:ght on his’ nght leg On' exammatlon, he noted sllght o
'_ swelhng, tenderness inthe medlal mferomedlal and popl;teat reglons and. posrtwe McMurray s testlng '
.-He contlnued to keep Pet;ttoner off work and prescnbed a right knee MRI PX 1 SRRE




The MR! performed wrthout contrast on May 9, 2016 showed a’ "Earge horrzontal tear rrwolv;ng
the posterlor horn of the medral Meniscus with extension to the: supenor artrculatang surface " The -
: '_radlotogsst descrlbed this tear as extendlng into the body and partlaﬂy into the anterior horn ofthe
-'medral memscus He also noted moderate rrregular thmnrng of the medlal ;omt compartment ca rtr|age
B shght b!untmg of the free edge of the postenor horn of the Eateral menascus rn;ld quadrrceps '

'tendrnopathy and a sma!l ;ornt effusron PX 1,3,

; Petrtioner returned to MercyWorks on May 12 2016 and saw a thtrd physzcran Dr Cermak The'
doctor noted that Petitioner rated his rrght knee pain at 6/10 when srttmg and 10/10 when walkrng
_ After rev:ewmg the MR, he recommended that Pet:troner stay off work keep his knees and feet .
g elevated contrnue the 1buprofen and seean orthopedrc surgeon as soon as possrble He referred
: _Petltroner to Dr Maday of thland Orthopedrcs PX 1 ' z AR -

Petrtroner frrst saw Dr Maday on May 18, 2016 The doctor recorded a consrstent history of the
-work accident and subsequent care. He ‘noted that, since the accudent Pet:troner had expenenced N
: mult;pte eplsodes of his right knee giving out and had recent!y been ex’pe'nencrng !ockrng of the knee as
“well. He mdrcated that Pet:troner had worked for Respondent for approxrmateiy twenty years wrthout

' any prevrous anjury

On mrtrat nght knee exammatron, Dr. Maday noted approxsmately 10 to 20 ccs of an effusuon, no
tendemess over the quadrrceps tendon or patel!ar tendon 2 to 3+ medial joint line tenderness mlnrma!
lateral joint line tenderness, posrtwe flexion MeM urray s, negat:ve Lachman, negat:ve anterior and
a postenor drawer no opemng with varus or. va!gus stressrng atOto 20 degrees and a range of motlon _
_ from 0to 120 degrees ‘After revrewmg the MRI, he recommended arthroscoplc surgeryto’ address the
meniscal pathology ‘He mdrcated that Petitioner would be’ unable to resume workrng if he dld not
~ -undergo surgery. “He contmued to keep Petitioner off work He mformed Petrtroner that the '
degenerat:ve changes could not be addressed arthroscoprcakly PX 2 :

‘On July 25 2016 Dr Maday operated on Petrtroner s rrght knee at Mercy Hosprta! performrng
an arthroscopy and partial medral menascectomy ‘In his operatrve report he documented a cornptex
tear of the posterior horn of the medrai meniscus “with a srgnrfrcant horazontal spht and flap tear"
'_mvolvrng approxrmateiy 40 to 50% of the postenor horn He descrrbed this tear-as ;rreparab!e and in
~the “White- whrte zone.” He noted no tearmg ofthe Iateral meniscus. He descnbed the antertor and
posterlor crucrate hgaments as mtact He noted Grade EI to It chondrosrs of the patella Grade m
: chondrosrs of the medrai femoral condy!e and Grade 1 to il chondrosrs of the medra! trblal plateau PX 2,

At the first post-operatrve \nsrt on August 3, 2016 Dr. Maday noted no ev;dence of an infection
and a range of motion trom 0 to 90 degrees He prescrrbed physrcal therapy and drrected Petrt:oner to
'remarn off work PX 2 : : : : S

evatuator noted a complamt of 8- 9/10 r:ght knee pain and dsfﬁculty watkmg, uszng starrs squattmg,
sta ndmg after extended suttlng and Irftang PX4. : o

Fo Petmoner contrnued attendrng therapy on a regutar basrs thereafter In a note dated August 24,
_2016 the therap:st mdncated that Petrtroner s gait was stlil anta!gic and that he had made mlnlmal
ob}ectrve rmprovement" W|th range of motlon PX 4 ST e




Petltloner returned to Dr Maday on August 24 2016 ‘t‘he doctor noted a range of motlon from '

B ‘0to 100 degrees and mtld tenderness over the medial compartment ‘He prescrlbed an anti- - _
o mftammatory cream He prescnbed addetlonal therapy and dlrected Petltloner to remam oﬁ work PX 2 :

Pet:tloner continued attendtng therapy through September 15 2016 On that date hls theraplst
-recommended two to four weeks of work cond;tionmg PX 4

_ _ On September 21 2016 Dr Nladay descrlbed Pet:ttoner as domg well and exper;encung less '
'pam On re- exammatlon he noted a fub range of motlon m:mmal joint Ime tenderness negatlve

- Lachman, nega'mve drawer testmg and no open;ng with’ varus or valgus stress:ng at Oor 20 degrees He

: recommended that Pet;’uoner transrtlon from therapy to work condttlontng PX 2. :

. Petlt;oner began a course of work condlttonmg on September 27 2016 ln a progress report
- -'dated October 5, 2016 Ryan Stachorek ATC, reported that. Petitioner appeared to have entered work
: _condltlonmg at a medium physacal demand level.’ Stachorek descnbed Petmoner 5 garbage retated
-“duties as heavy, with occasronal lrftmg of 100 pounds on October 7, 2016, Stachorek noted that’

; '_Petrtroner was still at a’ med:um phys;cal demand level and reportmg mrld mcreased kneé pain wrth

functrona! strengthenmg exerc;ses ” ‘He recommended two more weeks of work cond:tlonmg PX4.

o On October 12 2016 Dr. Maday noted that Petataoner had completed two weeks of work :
.condstlonmg and felt able to resume workmg He also noted the theraplst s recommendatuon of -
additional work condltlomng On re-examination, he noted a: full range of motlon no medial or lateral
. Joint line tenderness, negatlve Lachman negat:ve drawer testing and no Opensng w;th varus or valgus '

o stressmg atQor 20 degrees He released Petitroner to qul duty as of October 17, 2016 and dlrected him
to return in four weeks PX 2 - - - :

_ Dr Maday s Iast note of November 16 2016 refiects that Petltloner had been back to work for

" only ohe week due to havmg to take his vacation. He also noted that Petitioner was performmg home

- exerc:ses He noted no abnormalltres on re- examlnatron He found Petitroner to be at max:mom
-medrcat :mprovement and aliowed hum to contlnue fult duty PX 2. :

_ Petltroner testrﬁed he resumed hlS regular garbage collec‘non dutles but wore a knee brace
' throughout each shrft He testlfled that. Dr. Maday prescnbed this brace and that it helped alittle. He
‘was able to work but “not like & regular person.” . He! put all of his body werght on his left leg. ‘He
. :contmued to expenence r;ght knee pain, although it was less. severe than it had been prior to the
~ . surgery.-He had dlff:culty bendeng has rsght knee and steppmg onto and off the step on the back ofthe
. ga rbage truck : '

Petlttoner testlﬂed he contlnued performmg has garbage colEectlon dutles unt;l approxrmately
-.Apni 2018 ‘at whach pomt he: transferred to'a. Iaborer;ob in Respondent S rodent control dwasuon ‘He -

~putin fora transfer to this division because he knew the rodent control duties were itghter than those of
| garbage col!ector ‘He still had to wa!k throughout each shift but he was no'longer required to lift or
' step on and off of the back of a truck.: Hts new duties cons;sted of iooklng for rat holes, laying bast and :
_ checklng res&dents backyards When hlS crew moved from one Iocatlon to another they rode m a.
-.-'passenger van, nota truck SERATIAR o S




: _ Petltaoner testlfted he is still workmg in rodent control He contlnues to expenence nght knee .
o paln H;s rlght knee gives way, Whlch causeshim to lose hlS baiance He addresses his symptoms by -

applyingice to his knee, keepmg his feg elevated and wear:ng the brace He testn‘ied he wears the brace _‘ -
Sl the tsme regardless of whether he is at work R o S '

_ Petltloner testn‘led he has d;fficulty navrgatzng the stalrs in hlS house that Iead to the basement
" He has to hold both sets of ramngs when Climblng or descendlng these stairs. Itis e5pec:ialiy dltf:cult for
*him to step up wrth his’ rught leg.: ‘Heis able to kneel when he attends church but only on his left knee
5 _He keeps hls rtght leg extended due to paln He also keeps his nght leg extended when he sits on a:
~toilet. He uses’ his left leg to "push up” from a seated posmon Because he contanues to avo;d puttmg
' we;ght on hls rlght leg, he'is worried about his left leg i hES job came to an end he would have to look
' for somethmg Ilght that requlred no hf‘nng : : :

_ Under cross»exammatron Petrtloner denled havmg any rlght Ieg symptoms before the work -
' accldent Dr. Maday released hlm to unrestncted duty as of October 17, 2016. ‘He resumed his regular
_ -iaborer duties at that po&nt with no reductlon in his earnrngs He has not returned to Dr. Maday since
‘November 2016. He has not undergone any other right knee care since November 2016. He performed
his' regular laborer duties between October 2016 and April 2018, when he began workang in rodent :
' controi No one told harn he was physmally unable to contlnue worklng as a Eaborer ' :

_ Respondent dld not cal! any wntnesses Respondent offered mto ev;dence a prmt -out of the
' temporary total dlsabllrty benefits and medscal expenses it pald in this claim. RX 1 '

| Arbrtrator s Cred:buhty Assessment o

_ Petltloner chd not |dentnfy h|s here date but Dr Maday described him as havung worked for
Res;)ondent for twenty years That lengthy tenure wetghs in Pehtnoner’s favor credtblllty-wsse

o Petlttoner came across as hard-worklng He dld not overstate hIS complamts None of his
treatmg physncuans noted any symptom magnlf[cat:on The Arbstratorfound htm very credtble

Arbitrator'.s Conclusions of Law

: What is the nature and extent of the m;urv? _

Because the accrdent occurred after September 1, 2011 the Arbttrator looks to Sectton 8.1b of
the Act for gurdance in determming the nature and extent of Petitioner’s i injury. That SECthl’l sets forth
five factors to be consrdered in assessing permanency, wrth no smgle factor predomlnatmg The
"Arbatrator views the farst factor any AMA Guides :mpalrment ratmg, as irrelevant since neither party
offered such a ratlng into evrdence The Arb;trator assigns weight to the second factor Petatloner’s
' 'occuoatlon Dn October? 2016 Petttloner’s therapist recommended two more weeks of work '

condltlomng, noting that Petitsoner’s job was heavy and that he was still functron:ng ata medlem i

_ physrcal demand level. :On October 12,2016, Dr. Maday noted thas recommendatlon but neverthe!ess
released Petatloner to ful! duty. Petitioner testlﬂed he. resumed hlS regular garbage collectton dut:es

: thereaﬁer but also testrf;ed he did not’ work in'a normal fash:on inthathe'wore a brace on his’ rlght
knee; as prescnbed by Dr Maday, and put all of his welght on his left ieg He tndlcated that Dr. Maday

" told him to use the brace: for * safety and support " Dr. Maday s records do not mention the brace but

the Arbltrator fmds Petltioner s deta:led testirnony on T.hlS pomt credlble Petltsoner aiso credrbly
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'testrﬂed that in 2018 ‘he apphed for a transfer to a somewhat I;ghter rodent control job’ because while
: that;ob still tnvoived srgmflcant wa|kmg, it did not requrre hrm to lift heavy items or step’ up a drstance
: 'of 18 mcbes 10 rtde on the back ofa garbage truck. Petttaoner was still performang the rodent control
_ jOb as of the hea rmg, aibelt not wuthout d:fﬂculty The Arb:trator atso assngns weight to the third factor
Petltroner s age atthe time of the acudent Petmoner was’ 59 as of the Apn! 12, 2016 accudent “The
: Arbitrator views him as an o!der individual who is ra prdty approachrng typlcai retrrement age This factor _
'_'cuts both ways in the sense that, whr}e Petrtloner mtght not work for much Ionger he will st;li have to.
o deal with his r:ght knee symptoms when performmg routrne actlvzttes asa retiree. The Arbltrator also
asssgns werght 1o the fourth factor, future earning capacrty Petitioner readrly acknowiedged he
_' . remamed at; ‘the same rate of pay when he resumed workmg asa Eaborer in the fa!l of 2016. He did not
~claim any dtmtnutaon ofea rmngs secondary to has transfer to the rodent controt division, As for the fifth
_ '.and final factor, evadence of disability corroborated by the treatment records, the Arbitrator notes the
_ -MRi report Dr. Maday 5 operatwe report WhICh describes the menlscai tear as "comp!ex, wreparable
o and in the white-white zone,” the fact that Petitioner did not reach a heavy physical demand level o
: d uring work condltlonrng and Dr Maday 5 essentaakly negatlve exammation fmdmgs on October 12 and

T November 16 2016

_ . The Arb;trator hav;ng cons:dered the foregoang, fmds that Petatsoner is permanently part;ally
:_'d:sabled 1o the extent of 35% loss of use of the nght leg, representmg 75.25 weeks of beneﬂts under
o Sect:on 8(e) of the Act. : :




STATE OF ILLINOIS ) :
) SS BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’

COUNTY OF )] COMPENSATION COMMISSION
MCHENRY, )
Egan Coleman
Petitioner, )
) No. 14 WC 38286
Vs, ) 18 TWCC 000703
AKMG and the illinois State Treasurer as., )

Ex Officio Custodian of the Injured
Workers® Benefit Fund,
Respondent, )

ORDER

This matter comes before the Commission on its own Petition to Recall the
Commission Decision to Correct Clerical Error pursuant to Section 19(f) of the Act. The
Commission having been fully advised in the premises ﬁnds the following: '

The Commission finds that said Demswn shouid be recaHed for the correction of
a ciemcal/computatlonal error. :

ITIS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Commission
Decision and Opinion dated November 16, 2018, is hereby recalled pursuant to Section
19(f) of the Act. The parties should return their orlgmal decisions to Commissioner
Barbara Flores.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that a Corrected Decision
and Opinion on Review shall be issued simultaneously with this Order.

Barbara N. Flores

BNF/mw
045 o
oCT 17 208
DATED:

10/16/19
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Affirm and adopt (no changes) @ Injured Workers” Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. D Affirm with changes D Rate Adjl_zstment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF McHENRY ) [ TReverse L] Second Injury Fund ($8(c)18)
[ ] PTD/Fatal denied
IE Modify D None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
EGAN COLEMAN,
Petitioner,
VS. NO: 14 WC 38286

18 TWCC 000703

AKMG and the Ilinois State Treasurer as Ex Officio
Custodian of the Injured Workers' Benefit Fund,

Respondent.

CORRECTED DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Respondent herein and notice given
to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of employer/employee relationship,
accident, medical expenses and permanent partial disability and being advised of the facts and law,
modifies the Decision of the Arbitrator as stated below and otherwise affirms and adopts the
Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The Commission finds:

1. On May 13, 2014 Petitioner was a Bartender working in Respondent’s establishment
(Jaster’s Bar). He worked part-time hours and had his schedule set by the Manager.
He worked three 8-10 hour shifts per week and clocked in and out at the register.

2. Priorto wo.rking at Jaster’s, Petitioner was already familiar with Adam, one of Jaster’s
Co-Owners at the time. Adam used to be a patron at a bar owned by Petitioner’s father.
In April 2014 Petitioner had a conversation with Adam, during which Petitioner was

tips.

offered $5/hour plus tips to bartend at Jaster’s. Petitioner was required to report his

3. If Petitioner wanted a day off, he would have to discuss it with either Adam or the
Manager (Tanya). He was trained on how to operate the register, setting up and
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

cleaning the bar and how to make specialty drinks that Jaster’s offered.

Petitioner was asked to complete a W-4 form, and had taxes, Medicare and
withholdings taken out of his checks. His breaks were approved by etther Adam or
Tanya, and he was told to wear a black shtrt for each shift.

On May 13, 2014 Petitioner was wiping down a piece of metal in front of the beer
stands. He testified that Adam routinely wanted the bar to be wiped down. The metal
was not attached to the wood on the bar, so it slid and hit a stack of pint glasses.

Petitioner reached to catch the glasses before they fell, but by the time he grabbed them,

the pints had become broken glass and cut Petitioner’s left hand. Petmoner stated that
he was bleedmg “pretty bad” and Wrapped his hand ina towel

Adam took Petitioner to the hospltal where he received stitches. The stitches were
removed on or about May 24, 2014,

On May 29, 2014 "Petlttoner fotlowed up at the hospltal because his hand was “still
bad.” He testxﬁed that his wound had not closed, and he believed it had become
infected. He was referred to a hand surgeon.

The following day, Dr. Patel examined Petitioner and recommended surgery for wound
expioration and repair of the ulnar digita1 nerve and possibie tendon repair.

Surgery was performed June 4, 2014 and Petttloner was taken off work. Stitches were
removed June 12, 2014 and physwal therapy was prescribed. However, therapy was
denied due to the therapist not receiving any payments. Subsequently, Petitioner was
returned to work on June 19, 2014.

On July 3, 2014 Dr. Patel recommended a home exercise program and soft tissue
massage. Petitioner contmued periodic follow ups, but still complained of pain and
nurn‘ones_s in early November 2014.

Petitioner remgned from employment w1th Jaster’s in July 2014 due to a disagreement
with the Co-Owners.

Petitioner is right handed. He now works for Paylocity, which is a payroll company,
where his duties require him to type 90% of the day. He has difficulty typing with his
left hand, cannot feel the tip of one of the fingers on his 1eﬁ hand and has lost grip
strength He takes over—the-eounter medtcatlon

On the date in questlon Mehssa Neupert was the other Co-Owner of Jaster’s, and was
married to Adam. They have since dtvorced and Ms. Neupert is now the sole owner of
the estabhshment

Ms. Neupert testtﬁed that Jaster’s always had employees complete W-4 forms as it
was requxred before she could mput them mto the Pay Core payroll system. She also
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testified that anyone Who was working the bar was an employee.

Upon review, the Comm1551en afﬁrms the Arbltrator s findings regardmg
employer/employee reIatlonshlp, accident, and medlcal expenses.

The Comrmssmn, however views the evidence sli ghtly different than does the
Arbitrator regarding the permanent partial disability award. No American Medical
Association impairment rating was offered by either party. Petitioner was a 29-year
old Bartender at the time of accident and was able to return to work for Respondent
after the acmdent 'His subsequent resignation was unrelated to his physical condition.
There was no evidence offered detailing the potentaal effects Petitioner’s condition will
have on his future earning capacity, although he does still suffer from some lingering
effects of the i injury. Based on the above factors, the Commission finds that Petitioner’s
level of impairment equates to a 27.5% loss of use of his left small finger. This award
is rnod1ﬁed down from a prevmusly awarded 35% loss of use of sa1d finger.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY T HE COMMISSION that Petltloner met his burden
of proof regardmg an employer/empioyee reIatlonshxp

ITIS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
temporary total disability benefits of $212.08 per week for a period of 2-1/7 weeks, commencmg
06/04/2014 throug’n 06/ 19/2014 as prowded in §8(b) of the Act

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sum of $212.08 per. week for a ‘period of 6.05 weeks, as provided in §8(e) of the Act, for the
reason that the i mjunes sustamed caused a27.5% loss of use of Pet1t10ner S httle finger.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petltloner
the sum of 811, 358 04 for medicaI expenses under §8(a) of the Act

IT IS F URTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §I9(n) of the Act, 1f any

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.
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Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at
the sum of $13,200.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court
shall file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

0: 9/20/18 , :
SM/wde Stephen Mathis

W%W

Deborah L. Simpson

SPECTAL CONCURRING OPINION

This case was scheduled for Oral Arguments on September 20, 2018 before a three member
panel of the Commission including members David L. Gore, Stephen Mathis, and Deborah L.
Simpson at which time Oral Arguments were either heard, waived or denied. Subsequent to Oral
Arguments and prior to the departure of member David L. Gore, a majority of the panel members
had reached agreement as to the results set forth in this demsmn and opinion, as evidenced by the
internal Decision worksheet initialed by the entire three member panel.

Although I was not a member of the panel in question at the time Oral Arguments were
heard, waived or denied, and I did not participate in the agreement reached by the majority in this
case, ] have reviewed the Decision worksheet showing how Commissioner Gore voted in this case,
as well as the provisions of the Supreme Court in Zeigler v. Industrial Commission, 51 111.2d 342,
281 N.E.2d 342 (1972), which authorizes signature of a Decision by a member of the Commission
who did not participate in the Decision. Accordingly, I am signing this Dec;swn n order that it

may issue. M‘c

Marc Parker
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )
) SS.
COUNTY OF COOK )

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WO_RKER'S’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Sladana Radosavac,
Petitioner,
V8. NO: 16 WC 17561
16 WC 17562
19 TWCC 0437

Advocate Christ Medical Center,

Respondent.

ORDER OF RECALL UNDER SECTION 19(f)

Pursuant to Section 19(f) of the Act, the Respondent finds that a clerical error exists in
the Decision and Opinion on Review dated August 16, 2019, in the above captioned.

Respondent’s Motion for Corrected Decision was timely filed on September 11, 2019.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision and Opinion
on Review dated August 16, 2019 is hereby vacated and recalled pursuant to Section 19(f) for a
clerical error contalned therein.

ITIS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that a Corrected Decision and
Opinion on Review shall be issued simultaneously w1th thiS Order.

DATED: 0CT 29 2018

d: ’ Barbara N Flores
BNF/wde
45
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D'Afﬁrm and adopt (no changes)
) SS. |:| Affirm with changes
COUNTY OF COOK ) [ Reverse

X Modity

|:| Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (34(dy)
[ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(2))

D Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)

[ ] PTDFatal denied

E] None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS” COMPENSATION COMMISSION

SLADANA RADOSAVAC,

Petitioner,

VS, NO: 16 WC 17561
16 WC 17562
19 TWCC 0437

ADVOCATE CHRIST MEDICAL CENTER,

Respondent.

CORRECTED DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review under §19(b) having been filed by the Respondent herein
and notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of causal connection,
temporary total disability, medical expenses-CC and prospective medical care, and being advised
of the facts and law, modifies the Decision of the Arbitrator as stated below and otherwise affirms
and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof. The
Commission further remands this case to the Arbitrator for further proceedings for a determination
of a further amount of temporary total compensation or of compensation for permanent disability,
if any, pursuant to Thomas v. Industrial Commission, 78 111.2d 327, 399 N.E.2d 1322, 35 Ill.Dec.

794 (1980).
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L FINDINGS OF FACTS

A. Background

Petitioner was a 33-year-old employee of Respondent at the time of her accepted accidents
on February 10, 2016 and April 6, 2016. She was employed as an equipment distribution and
processing (EDP) technician that also performed patient transport.

Petitioner’s job as an EDP technician mainly involved patient transport. She explained that
the physical requirements of the position included a lot of lifting, pushing and pulling of beds,
equipment, and patients. Petitioner’s duties also included lifting and moving heavy patients from
side to side and from one bed to another.

Petitioner testified that if a patient to be transported was overweight, they had to transport
the patient in the bed itself. She transported patients to the Imaging Center, surgery, and for any
testing. Heavier patients were mostly transported to the testing and surgery areas. Petitioner
transported 17 to 21 patients per day.

Petitioner explained that the patient was initially in bed when she arrived. She used her
whole-body force to get the patients on the stretcher and lift with the sheet, and sometimes she
needed help to get the patients on the stretcher, which was easier to maneuver. Petitioner testified
that, given her short stature, she had to lift from across the bed and pull using force. She extended
her arms and sometimes got on top of the stretchers to pull them out to not use too much of the
weight. Petitioner would then move the patient on the gurmey to whatever area was required
maneuvering through hallways and elevators throughout a hospital with nine floors.

Petitioner worked for Respondent from 2:00 p.m. to 10:30 p.m., five days per week and
every other weekend. She was also employed elsewhere on a part-time basis at Miller’s Ale House
as a server/trainer. Petitioner acknowledged that her job there included taking orders. training
people, greeting people, and bringing out drinks.

B. Accidents and Interim Medical Treatment

On February 10, 2016, Petitioner sustained an undisputed accident. She testified that she
went to transport a heavy, comatose patient from intensive care to interventional radiology
requiring extreme caution. Petitioner explained that there was not enough lifting help with only
three individuals in the respiratory department, so they used a board requiring Petitioner to lean
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over (the patient). As Petitioner was getting ready to pull the sheet under the heavy patient, with
the initial pull, her whole body went numb and she felt pain all over.

Petitioner went to Respondent’s emergency room reporting the incident and her symptoms.
After an examination, she was prescribed Hydrocodone, Norco and Flexeril, and placed on light
duty work restrictions. 7 '

Petitioner then went to the employee health department the next day at the hospital and saw
Dr. Greene. She described her pain and was examined. Dr. Greene placed her off work for three
days followed by a return to work with a 20-pound lifting restriction and no patient transfers. On
February 22, 2016, Dr. Greene recommended that Petitioner try to return to regular work.
Petitioner did so and continued with further follow-up visits until her second accident.

While doing her regular work, Petitioner reported that she was very sore, with constant
pain, a lot of headaches, and a shooting sensation down her back. She indicated that it was getting
very hard to get up in the morning without pain. Petitioner localized the pain in her back from her
neck to her lower back shooting down her spine to her buttocks.

On April 6, 2016, Petitioner sustained a second undisputed accident. She testified that she
went to move a patient from the transfer room and followed patient protocol given the lack of help.
They set the gurney-closer to the bed putting a sheet underneath the patient as they did not have a
board to use. Petitioner was holding the sheet and, as they were leaning over to pull the patient,
she could not move at all once she picked up the patient. She explained that she had been leaning
over the stretcher, bent at the waist when they moved the patient. Petitioner testified that she
experienced that same numbness as she was pulling her whole body in this process.

C. Subsequent Medical Treatment

Petitioner returned to Respondent’s emergency room where she was examined, given
medication, and instructed to follow-up with employee health department. Petitioner reported an
injury while transferring a patient resulting in a back injury and subsequent neck to lower back
pain as well as headache. She also reported that she felt a “pull” in her left upper back while
engaged in transferring the patient. Petitioner was diagnosed with a left upper trapezius back
injury and prescribed Ibuprofen, Norco, Cyclobenzaprine (Flexeril). She was also instructed to
use ice as needed and placed on light duty work restrictions with no lifting or pushing/pulling with
her left arm. Petitioner remained off work from April 7, 2016 through April 10, 2016 as
Respondent did not have work within the restrictions.

Petitioner returned to Dr. Greene on April 11, 2016 at which time she reported symptoms
including neck, upper back and back pain, worse with moving left shoulder, and a worsening






16 WC 17561
16 WC 17562
19 IWCC 0437
Page 4

headache; No radiating leg symptoms were noted. After an examination, Dr. Greene diagnosed a
muscle strain of the low back, thorax, and shoulders. He prescribed additional medications and
continued light duty work restrictions. Respondent was able to accommodate the work restrictions
including no overhead pushing, pulling, or lifting with her left arm. On April 18, 2016, Dr. Greene
referred Petitioner to an orthopedic surgeon. Thereafter, Petitioner returned to employee health
on April 25, 2016 at which time another physician continued her medications and work
restrictions.

On April 28, 2016, Petitioner saw Dr. Ojiako at Employee Health with continued
complaints of numbness and tingling in her left shoulder and leg. At the time, Petitioner was
working light duty performing equipment and medication delivery. She lified infusion pumps
weighing 5-10 pounds, channels [equipment], anything a patient needed in the room as in-patient,
and sometimes heavier things, but within her restrictions. He diagnosed Petitioner with a muscle
strain, fascia and tendon at neck level, strain of muscles and tendons of the rotator cuff left shoulder
and ordered Ibuprofen, Cyclobenzaprine, and physical therapy. Dr. Ojiako also continued work
restrictions of no pushing/pulling with the left upper extremity and no overhead work.

On May 2, 2016, Dr. Greene continued Petitioner’s medication regimen and physical
therapy noting her continued symptoms. He then placed her off work effective May 2, 2016 to
May 9, 2016. Petitioner testified that she has not returned to work for Respondent since that time.

Petitioner continued to see Dr. Greene, and, on May 23, 2016, he maintained Petitioner’s
diagnosis of muscle strain, fascia and tendon at neck level, strain of muscles and tendons ot the
rotator cuff left shoulder. He ordered continued therapy and work restrictions with no lifting over
five pounds. Dr. Greene also referred Petitioner to an orthopedic surgeon providing a list of
prospective providers. Petitioner was not offered light duty by Respondent at the time.

Petitioner then saw Dr. Lim, an orthopedic surgeon on staff at Respondent’s hospital with
whom she was familiar. On June 1, 2016, she presented to Dr. Lim’s physician’s assistant
reporting sharp and throbbing pain symptoms, constant, severe headaches, and radiating pain in
the left arm at times. After an examination, Petitioner was diagnosed with cervical disc disorder
with radiculopathy, cervicothoracic region C5-6, degenerative disc disease, and kyphosis,
prescribed medications and kept Petitioner off work. A cervical MRI was also ordered, which
Petitioner underwent at Respondent’s hospital on June 15, 2016. The interpreting radiologist noted
cervical disc disorder with radiculopathy, cervical degenerative disc disease with changes at C5-
6, C6-7 causing mild canal stenosis, a C5-6 broad based disc osteophyte complex with large focal
central disc extrusion, a focal central disc protrusion mildly pressing on the ventral cord, and a Cé-
7 focal central/left disc protrusion and left uncinate arthropathy with the disc protrusion contacting
the adjacent cord, mild stenosis.
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On June 24, 2016, Petitioner saw Dr. Lim for the first time. He noted both of her injuries
at work involving patient transfers, and Petitioner’s chief complaint of neck pain with suboccipital
headaches, left arm numbness, pins and needles sensation, and left lower extremity symptoms. Dr.
Lim examined Petitioner noting a positive Spurling’s sign on the left and weakness of the left wrist
extensors graded 4/5. He also reviewed the MRI finding two herniated discs at C5-6 and C6-7,
with C6-7 eccentric to the left and C5-6 more central, but causing spinal cord impingement. Dr.
Lim diagnosed Petitioner with cervical pain with radiculopathy and cervical herniated nucleus
pulposus at C5-6 and C6-7. He also stated that Petitioner's symptoms were a direct result of her
work-related injuries in February and April of 2016 and was concerned about the manifestation of
long tract signs in the lower extremity which most likely is associated with impingement on the
spinal cord secondary to the disc herniations. He noted that Petitioner did not have clear objective
signs of myelopathy but, recommended close follow up to confirm there were no worsening
symptoms of the lower extremity symptoms. Dr. Lim recommended an epidural steroid injection
(ESI) and placed Petitioner on sedentary work restrictions with no use of her left arm and no
overhead work.

Petitioner testified that Respondent did not offer her work within the restrictions. She
underwent the recommended injection shortly thereafter and returned to see Dr. Lim on September
2, 2016 at which time he diagnosed cervical disc disorder with radiculopathy, mid-cervical region.
Dr. Lim noted Petitioner then had not improved with nonsurgical management and further options,
including surgery were discussed. Petitioner opted for another ESI and Norco was refilled.

On September 2, 2016, Dr. Lim noted Petitioner’s continued symptoms (not specific) and
pain reported at a level of 9 out of 10. Diagnosis was cervical disc disorder with radiculopathy,
mid-cervical region. He recommended surgery if a second epidural steroid injection did not
provide relief. Dr. Lim then released Petitioner back to work with restrictions including no work
above shoulder level. '

With regard to the work restrictions, Petitioner testified that she placed the restriction script
on the table by the doctor’s office fax and she was given a confirmation that it was sent. She
testified that this was true for every visit. Petitioner testified that she never received a letter or call
from her department regarding Respondent offering work within her restrictions.

On October 14, 2016, Petitioner obtained a second opinion from Dr. An at Midwest
Orthopedics at Rush regarding her neck. Dr. An examined Petitioner and reviewed the MR]. He
recommended a Medrol dose pack, Ultram, and possibly Neurontin. Dr. An noted Petitioner may
be a candidate for ESI; surgery as a last resort.

Petitioner returned to Dr. Lim on November 23, 2016 and Dr. Lim asked if Petitioner had
the second epidural steroid injection, and it was noted that Petitioner had not received that injection
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which she wished to still undergo. Dr. Lim ordered a second cervical MRI, continued medications,
and he placed Petitioner off work.

D. Secondary Employment and Continued Medical Treatment

From May 2, 2016 through November 23, 2016, Petitioner continued to work part-time at
Miller’s Ale House while she was authorized off work or on work restrictions, that Respondent
could not accommodate. Petitioner last worked at Miller’s Ale House on November 26, 2016.

Petitioner underwent the second cervical MRI at Christ Hospital. In the December 12,
2016 report, the interpreting radiologist noted C5-6 degenerative disc disease with an
uncovertebral disc bulge, a central disc protrusion with migration that indents the ventral thecal
sac and anterior spinal cord, moderate stenosis, and mild C6-7 degenerative disc disease with an
uncovertebral disc bulge without stenosis. The radiologist noted that these findings were similar
compared to those in the June 15, 2016 study.

Petitioner then returned to Dr. Lim on December 19, 2016 at which time he examined her,
reviewed the updated MRI, and recommended surgery in the form of decompression addressing
the herniated disc. Dr. Lim also recommended sedentary work, which Respondent did not offer.
Miller's Ale House did not have sedentary type work for Petitioner given her position there as a
server.

Petitioner again saw Dr. Lim January 4, 2017. He maintained her diagnosis of cervical
disc disorder with radiculopathy, mid-cervical region. The medical records reflect that he
reviewed her MRI and again restricted her to sedentary work. Petitioner testified that by this visit,
her temporary total disability benefits were discontinued. She lived alone at that time, so she
started looking for another job.

Petitioner was able to find a suitable job within Respondent’s Advocate Health System
starting January 16, 2017 as a patient service representative. In this full-time position, she
scheduled appointments, answered phone calls from patients, and connected patients with their
doctors via a messaging system. Petitioner explained that the position was 40 hours per week,
Monday through Tuesday and Thursday through Saturday from 8:00 a.m. fo 4:30 p.m. The facility
at which she worked was in Rosemont, lllinois.

Petitioner also worked at Miller’s Ale House part-time through March 25, 2017. Over two
days per week, Petitioner estimated that she worked six hours. At the restaurant, Petitioner did
some training and wrote orders. She testified that her shift ended at 11:00-1 1:30 p.m. and 1:00-
2:00 a.m. on the weekends. Petitioner would get home from Miller’s Ale House at about midnight.
Given that she resides south in Palos Heights, she testified that she then woke up at 4:30-5:00 a.m.






16 WC 17561
16 WC 17562
19 IWCC 0437
Page 7

and left her home at 5:30-6:00 a.m. to avoid traffic with a commute lasting an hour to an hour and
a half. Petitioner agreed she was making 50 cents more per hour working in this position but
explained that she did have to pay tolls to get there. By contrast, when she did work at the hospital
she would start at 2:00 p.m. so she would sleep until she had to go to work at the restaurant and
she was able to get 4-5 hours more sleep.

Petitioner testified that she stopped working at the restaurant on March 25, 2017 because
it was very physical, and she was very tired going from one job to another due to her lack of sleep.
Petitioner has not worked at Miller’s Ale House since March of 2017 and she continued to work
for Respondent in Rosemont. '

Petitioner /ast saw Dr. Lim on April 5, 2017 at which time he prescribed medications,
Norco and muscle relaxers. She reported that she was still in a lot of pain with continued soreness,
constant headaches, and numbness on her left side. Petitioner also reported that she was extremely
tired, sometimes requiring pain medication to go to sleep. Dr. Lim last recommended the second
epidural steroid injection and further therapy, which she testitied that she wanted to undergo. Dr.
Lim had been recommending that ESI since November 23, 2016.

Regarding her current condition of ill-being, Petitioner testified at work now, “[i]t’s getting
really heavy. | have to stand up several times a day to stretch. My left side goes numb.” She
explained that she experienced numbness from her left shoulder/neck to her feet, and attributed the
tingling, numbness, and pain to the entire left side including her arm and fingers.

E. Testimony of Mr. Weinstein

Respondent called Brett Weinstein as a witness. He is employed with Miller’s Ale House
in Lombard and had been so employed for about 83 years in the position of assistant general
manager over the last several months. Mr. Weinstein testified that he had been in management for
over three years with prior experiences as a bartender. Currently, Mr. Weinstein oversees day-to-
day operations, scheduling, inventory, running the front of the house, dealing with customers and
employee issues.

Mr. Weinstein testified that he was tamiliar with Petitioner as an employee of Miller’s Ale
House. He did not know her socially, only through work. Mr. Weinstein stated that Petitioner
was one of the servers and he wrote Petitioner’s schedule and dealt with issues that arose. He was
familiar with the duties of a server, as he oversaw their work. He had also done the job previously.
Mr. Weinstein testified that the server position involved dealing with guests, helping run food,
performing side work, and cleaning silverware and tables. Servers also waited on tables, took and
entered orders, brought out food and drinks, checked back on the tables, and ensured payment.
Mr. Weinstein testified that a server could carry out one to three plates at a time, depending on the
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server and use trays for two or more drinks. Servers would also pre-bus tables and, if no busboy
was available, fully bus the tables, wipe them down, and put out silverware.

M. Weinstein was aware Petitioner had suffered injuries while working for another
employer as Petitioner had let them know. He believed it was about February 2016 and testified
that she performed restricted work thereafter at the restaurant. Mr. Weinstein testified that he was
involved with that ensuring that Petitioner was following those guidelines for restricted work. He
testified that Petitioner could not lift anything heavy, so she dealt with tables and not with anything
heavy. Mr. Weinstein testified that Respondent provided work within her restrictions and were
able to accommodate her. They had received paperwork regarding the restrictions. He believed
that Petitioner was on restrictions from February of 2016 until she ended employment with the
restaurant.

F. Testimony of Ms. Love

Respondent called Catherine Love as a witness. She testified that she was employed by
Respondent for approximately 19 years spending about 15 years as the manager of the equipment
processing distribution and patient transportation department. In this position, Ms. Love testified
that she oversees the associates/employees who transport patients, deliver medical equipment, and
pick up soiled linens and dirty equipment for cleaning. Ms. Love stated that the employees also
run around the campus for wheelchairs and picking up transport carts.

Ms. Love testified that she was familiar with Petitioner as an EDP technician who worked
in her department. She did not know Petitioner outside of work. Petitioner performed the patient
transportation and equipment duties as she noted. Ms. Love also testified that there is light duty
available within the department and they would always take a light duty associate, whenever
possible. She explained, however, that they cannot provide light duty with no pushing, no pulling,
no lifting, no anything.

Ms. Love stated they did have restricted work for Petitioner. She explained that, if she was
provided with a medical note from Petitioner’s doctor with no above-shoulder work, she would go
through Kim Salazar, manager of workers’ compensation, and take directives from her. If Ms.
Salazar said that Petitioner could work that way, Ms. Love would have provided Petitioner with
work.

Ms. Love testified she was not handed any note with restrictions for Petitioner to return to
work after September of 2016, and Petitioner never attempted to return to work after September 2,
2016. They did not provide Petitioner with light work after April 0f 2016. Ms. Love believed that
Petitioner was in the department a couple weeks in April on light duty delivering equipment.
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Ms. Love testified that, had they received a restriction with no above-shoulder work in
September, they would have continued having Petitioner do equipment runs. She explained that
the department had two people performing that work, and it would not involve overhead work.
Ms. Love explained that the equipment was located on counters and such work did not involve
lifting heavy equipment over the shoulders. She acknowledged that there may be some items that
the employee would have to reach from a rack with a CMP machine being the heaviest piece to
obtain from a shelf.

G. Respondent’s Section 12 Examination & Deposition Testimony — Dr. Hsu

While Petitioner was undergoing medical treatment, she submitted to a Section 12
examination with Dr. Hsu at Respondent’s request on December 10, 2016. Dr. Hsu issued a report
dated December 15,2016. After an examination, reviewing various treatment records, and taking
ahistory from Petitioner, Dr. Hsu diagnosed Petitioner with cervical strains from the accidents that
had resolved. He opined that Petitioner’s current condition was not related to the accidents. He
also placed Petitioner at maximum medical improvement and indicated that she could return to
work without restrictions at that time.

Dr. Hsu later gave testimony at an evidence deposition on March 22, 2017. He is board-
certified spine surgeon and has been for 10 years. Dr. Hsu testified consistent with the opinions
in his report and gave certain opinions regarding Petitioner’s condition and its relatedness, if any,
to her accidents at work.

Dr. Hsu obtained a history from Petitioner regarding her accidents as noted in his reports.
He noted that both accidents involved primarily low back and neck pain followed by medical
treatment including therapy, an epidural steroid injection and light duty work restrictions.
Petitioner only noted the headaches and neck pain at the time of his exam, which revealed
decreased motion of the lumbar spine. However, Dr. Hsu did not believe that Petitioner gave her
full effort as it was not consistent with how she walked outside the exam room. He also noted a
grossly normal neurological exam and cervical rom, but positive Waddell’s sign with axial
compression and hip rotation. Dr. Hsu noted his review of medical records, including Petitioner’s
MRI films showing C5-6, C6-7 posterior osteophyte complexes (bone spurs). He noted that the
C5-6 bone spur was causing what he considered to be moderate stenosis as well as narrowing of
the canal and mild central stenosis at C6-7. Dr. Hsu also viewed surveillance video of Petitioner
performing different activities in which he saw no inability to work related to the injury.

Dr. Hsu opined that Petitioner had sustained cervical strains and soft tissue injuries from
the incidents at work. He maintained that she was at maximum medical improvement six weeks
after the second accident. Dr. Hsu further opined that the incidents did not aggravate her pre-
existing spondylotic, bone spur condition as the accidents were of low impact. He attributed






16 WC 17561
16 WC 17562
19 IWCC 0437
Page 10

Petitioner’s symptoms as secondary to her cervical spondylotic changes (i.e., chronic degenerative
wear and tear) which pre-existed and was in no way related to her accidents.

On cross-examination, Dr. Hsu acknowledged that he only brought his report with him to
the deposition. He testified that any handwritten notes that he took during the examination would
have been shredded after he formulated his dictation. Although he testified that Petitioner did not
complain of pain down the left anm with numbness at the time of his examination, he
acknowledged that he did not have his handwritten notes from the date of his examination. Dr.
Hsu acknowledged that he did not have the job description that he was provided. Dr. Hsu
acknowledged that he did not review the films or disk from Petitioner’s December 6, 2016 MR,
but he agreed with the interpreting radiologist’s findings from the report. He also acknowledged
that he did not know what work restrictions Dr. Lim had placed on Petitioner at the time she was
under surveillance in July and November of 2016,

On cross-examination, Dr. Hsu also acknowledged that spondylosis and bone spurs can
possibly be aggravated or made symptomatic by trauma. He acknowledged that he saw no
evidence of neck or back symptoms prior to her accident in February of 2016. Regardless of causal
connection, as of December 15, 2016, Dr. Hsu believed that Petitioner had not exhausted all
conservative care and he would probably send her back to physical therapy if she were his patient.
He also believed that she might be a candidate for a second epidural steroid injection.

H. Deposition Testimony — Dr. Lim

Dr. Lim gave testimony at an evidence deposition on March 7, 2017. He is board-
certified spine surgeon and has been for 18 years. Dr. Lim testified regarding his treatment of
Petitioner and gave certain opinions regarding her condition and its relatedness, if any, to her
accidents at work.

Dr. Lim noted that he first saw Petitioner on June 1, 2016 with an initial presentation for
shoulder pain. He obtained a history of Petitioner’s accidents, noting neck pain to be almost
immediate and severe enough to stop working. Petitioner’s MRI as ordered by his physician’s
assistant showed two herniated discs at C5-6, C6-7 with C6-7 eccentric to the left and C5-6 more
central, but with cord impingement. Dr. Lim confirmed the presence of a C5-6 herniation with
spinal cord compression with overall moderate stenosis.

Ultimately, Dr. Lim opined that Petitioner had spinal cord compression secondary to an
acute herniated disc at C5-6 that caused her ongoing symptoms since February 2016. He noted
that her pathology was directly correlated given Petitioner’s subjective complaints and physical
examination findings. Dr. Lim found that there was a causal connection between the two work
accidents and her disc herniation although he could not state to which accident. Regardless, he
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maintained that the cumulative trauma to her cervical spine caused the disc hermiation and
subsequent condition of ill-being.

H. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Petitioner gave uncontroverted testimony regarding both accidents at work while moving
patients and her ongoing symptoms thereatter. Her testimony is supported by the medical records
reflecting continued pain and symptoms since the accidents necessitating active treatment. While
Petitioner had degeneration as reflected in her MRI’s, the record is devoid of evidence that she had
symptoms prior to her accidents impeding her ability to work full duty. and there is no evidence
that Petitioner underwent any prior medical treatment for such degeneration.

Once referred for an orthopedic evaluation, Petitioner began treatment with Dr. Lim on
June 1,2016, a surgeon on staff at Respondent’s hospital. He had the opportunity to examine and
evaluate her on a regular basis noting her ongeoing complaints and his clinical findings
corroborating a diagnosis cervical disc disorder with radiculopathy, mid-cervical region. Dr. Lim
also opined that there was a causal connection between Petitioner’s accidents at work, her current
condition of ill-being and the need for further medical care including an epidural steroid injection
and possibly surgery if that was not successful. He confirmed the presence of a C5-6 herniation
with spinal cord compression with overall moderate stenosis as reflected in Petitioner’s MR, and
opined that Petitioner had spinal cord compression secondary to that acute herniated disc. Dr. Lim
testified that it was this herniation that caused her ongoing symptoms since the time of her first
accident in February of 2016. While Dr. Lim could not attribute Petitioner’s hemiation and
ongoing symptoms to one or the other accident specifically, he found that there was a causal
connection between the two work accidents noting that Petitioner’s pathology was directly
correlated to her subjective complaints and physical examination findings after her injuries at
work. With regard to the time between both accidents, the record reflects that Petitioner underwent
uninterrupted medical treatment immediately after her first accident at Respondent’s hospital or
with its physicians up through the time of her second accident at work. Regardless, Dr. Lim
maintained that the cumulative trauma to Petitioner’s cervical spine caused the disc herniation and
subsequent condition of ill-being.

Respondent offered the opinions of its Section 12 Examination examiner, Dr. Hsu, into
evidence. Dr. Hsu opined that Petitioner only sustained a cervical strain and that she was at
maximum medical improvement no later than six weeks after the second accident. He believed
that the incidents were low impact, so they did not aggravate Petitioner’s pre-existing condition.
However, Dr. Hsu acknowledged that he did not have the job description that he was provided, he
specifically admitted that he did not review the December 6, 2016 MR1 films, and he did not know
what work restrictions Dr. Lim had placed on Petitioner at the time she was under surveillance in
July and November of 2016. He further acknowledged that spondylosis and bone spurs can






16 WC 17561
16 WC 17562
19 IWCC 0437
Page 12

possibly be aggravated or made symptomatic by trauma and that there was no evidence of neck or
back symptoms prior to Petitioner’s first accident at work. Regardless of causal connection, Dr.
Hsu believed that Petitioner needed additional care, albeit, from the pre-existing condition.
Nonetheless, Dr. Hsu attributed only strain-type injuries to Petitioner’s accidents at work, which
he opined had resolved and at “some point™ he opined that the pre-existing condition became
symptomatic resulting in her current condition of ill-being.

‘In contrast, Petitioner’s treating physician, Dr. Lim, confirmed the presence of a C5-6
herniation with spinal cord compression with overall moderate stenosis after reviewing her MRI
filrms. He opined that Petitioner had spinal cord compression secondary to an acute herniated disc
at C'5-6 that caused her ongoing symptoms since February of 2016. Dr. Lim noted that Petitioner’s
pathology was directly related to her accidents at work noting that her subjective complaints and
physical examination findings correlated. Dr. Lim could not state specifically which accident
caused her condition but testified that the cumulative trauma to her cervical spine caused the disc
herniations and subsequent condition of ill-being. Dr. Lim had testified at deposition that the MR1
showed two herniated discs, C5-6. C6-7 (C6-7 eccentric to the left).

The opinions of Dr. Lim is more persuasive given the totality of this record. Petitioner had
no prior complaints or treatment to the neck or back before her accidents at work. Between her
accidents she underwent continuous treatment at Respondent’s hospital or with its physicians, She
had an ongoing condition with increasing symptomatology after her first, and second, accident that
included radicular symptoms into the left upper extremity correlating to her left sided disc
herniations and the spinal cord compression noted by Dr. Lim. The opinions of Dr. Lim are fully
supported in the evidence and history and more persuasive than Dr. Hsu opinions. The opinions
of Dr. Hsu are not persuasive in this case given the two undisputed accidents at work, lack of prior
symptoms or treatment, uninterrupted medical treatment after both accidents, and lack of review
of Petitioner’s MRI films.

As to the surveillance video, Petitioner is observed dancing and holding a tray of food at
one point, but not engaging in physical activities beyond her restrictions.

Thus, the Commission finds that Petitioner met her burden of proving an ongoing causal
relationship between the undisputed accidents at work, her current condition of ill-being, and the
need for further treatment as ordered by Dr. Lim. The Commission finds the decision of the
Arbitrator as not contrary to the weight of the evidence, and, herein, affirms and adopts the
Arbitrator’s finding as to causal connection.

Temporary Total Disability Benefits

As to issue of temporary total disability (TTD), the Commission finds that Petitioner was
off work from Respondent’s employment for a period of 37 and 4/7th weeks (April 7, 2016 through
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April 10, 2016, May 2, 2016 through January 15, 2017) at $350.07 per week. (total TTD
$13,152.63) The Commission herein, affirms and adopts the Arbitrator’s decision regarding the
temporary total disability benefits totaling $13,152.63. Respondent entitled to credit for TTD paid
0f$10,602.12 .

However, as to Petitioner’s claim of testified that during her concurrent employment at the
restaurant, the Commission notes that Petitioner began losing time from work on November 27,
2016 when she was placed on sedentary restrictions. Mr. Weinstein (from Miller’s Ale House),
who is not employed by Respondent, testified that he was involved with that ensuring that
Petitioner was given work within her restrictions after she was placed on restrictions in the spring
of 2017. The Commission notes that Petitioner was working for Advocate in Rosemont under
sedentary work restrictions making slightly more per hour at that time.

Petitioner had concurrent employment with Miller’s Ale House at the time of the accident.
Petitioner began losing time from that employer November 26, 2016. She then returned to work at
Miller’s February 5, 2017 (while still on sedentary restrictions). Petitioner, therefore, 1s entitled to
TTD/TPD as to lost wages from Miller’s November 26, 2016 through February 5, 2017 (10-1/7
weeks at $194.74; total regarding Miller’s concurrent employment $1,975.22). Any claimed
temporary total disability/temporary partial disability while employed by Miller’s Ale House
thereafter is denied.

Thus, the Commission, herein, affirms in part, and modifies in part as to the issue of
temporary total disability/temporary partial disability as noted herein.

Medical Expenses/Prospective Medical Treatment

The Commission with the above finding of an ongoing causal connection to Petitioner’s
current condition of ill-being, in reliance on the opinions of Petitioner’s treating physician Dr. Lim,
further finds that Petitioner met her burden of proving entitlement to prospective medical treatment
awarded by the Arbitrator. The record evidences the need for the care ordered by Dr. Lim for the
further therapy and epidural steroid injections, as his last recorded recommendation; Petitioner
would be a candidate for discectomy per Dr. Lim’s June 24, 2016 record; Petitioner was to return
after the ESI was done. The Commission finds the decision of the Arbitrator as not contrary to the
weight of the evidence, and, herein, affirms and adopts the Arbitrator’s finding as to Petitioner’s
claim for medical expenses and prospective medical treatment as ordered by Dr. Lim.

[T IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall pay to
the Petitioner the sum of $350.07 per week for a period of 37 and 4/7th weeks regarding lost time
from Respondent, and the sum of $194.74 per week for a period of 10-1/7 weeks (regarding lost
time from Miller’s Ale House [prior concurrent employment-TTD/TPD]), that being the period of
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temporary total incapacity for work under §8(b), and that as provided in §19(b) of the Act, this
award in no instance shall be a bar to a further hearing and determination of a further amount of
temporary total compensation or of compensation for permanent disability, if any. Respondent
shall be given credit of $10,602.12 for temporary total disability paid to Petitioner.

" IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall authorize
and pay for the physical therapy and epidural steroid injection to Petitioner’s cervical spine that
Dr. Lim has ordered, pursuant to Section 8(a) and subject to Section 8.2 of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that this case be remanded to the
Arbitrator for further proceedings consistent with this Decision, but only after the latter of
expiration of the time for filing a written request for Summons to the Circuit Court has expired
without the filing of such a written request, or after the time of completion of any judicial
proceedings, if such a written request has been filed.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at
the sum of $25,000.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court
shall file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

P Tl

Barbara N. Flores

DATED: 0CT 29 2019

BNF/jsf
6/20/19
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Deborah L. Simpso
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COUNTY OF Cook ) [ second Injury Fund (§8(¢)18)
El None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ARBITRATION DECISION

B - ' 19(b)
Sladana Radosavac Case # 16 WC 17561
Employee/Petitioner
v Consolidated cases: 16WC 17562

Advocate Christ Hospital
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An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Brian T. Cronin, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of
Chicago IL, on 6/26/17. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings
on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those tindings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the [llincis Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

D Was there an employee-employer relationship?

o w

. D Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
. D What was the date of the accident?

D Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?
. D What were Petitioner's earnings?
. D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

S om o mm U

: D Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

K. @ Is Petitioner entitled to any prospective medical care?

L. D What temporary benefits are in dispute?
]TtpD [] Maintenance 11D
M. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?

N. D Is Respondent due any credit?
o. [ Jother

ICArEDeci9h) 2/100 100 W. Randolph Street B8-200 Clicago, IL 60661 312/814-6611  Toll-free 866/3352-3033  Web site: waww,

iwee.il.gov
Downstate offices:. Colilnsville 618/346-3450 . Peoria 309/671-3019  Rockford 813/987-7292  Springfleld 217/785-70184 :
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On the date of accident, 2/10/16, Respondent was opéfating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.
On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and 1n the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner eamed $41,099.22; the average weekly wage was $824.92.
On the date of accident, Petitio_ner was 33 years of age, single with 0 dependent children,
Respondent' has p'aid all reasonable and n'ecessaly charges for all reasonablé and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $0.00 for TTD, $0.00 for TPD, $0.00 for maintenance, and $0.00 for
other benefits, for a total credit of $0.00.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $0.00 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER

The disputed issues of causation and prospective medical care are addressed in the decision for
consolidated case 16WC 17562,

In no instance shall this award be a bar to subsequent hearing and determination of an additional amount of
medical benefits or compensation for a temporary or permanent disability, if any.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission. o - '

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE [f the Commission reviews this aWard, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

10/18117

Fignature of Arbitrator _ Date

[CArDec 1 ¥b)

ocT 18 2017
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.SLADANA RADOSAVAC v. ADVOCATE CHRIST MEDICAL CTR.
16WC 17561 & 16WC 17562

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 10, 2016 and April 6, 2016, Petitioner was employed by Respondent as an
EDP technician. Her job consisted of transporting patients to and from their rooms to the imaging
or surgical centers, and distributing equipment, carts, and other commodities to and from assigned
areas. (Tr. 11, RX2) Petitioner testified that the job required much physical acti\./ity in lifting
patients from their bed to a cart (stretcher) for transport. (Tr. 10) She would, at times, reach across
the cart or bed to lift and move a patient. (Tr. 12) She pushed the cart by herself through the
hospital turning corners and getting in and out of elevators. She transported 17-21 patients per
day. (Tr. 11-12) Petitioner worked from 2:00 p.m. to 13:30 p.m. five days per week which included
every- other weekend. (Tr, 13) |

Petitioner held concurrent employment at Miller’s Ale House as a server/trainer. She
testified that her work shift ended at 11:00 p.m. or at 1:00 or 2:00 a.m. on weekends. After work,
she would drive home to sleep prior to starting her shift for Respondent at 2:00 p.m. (Tr. 13) At
Miller’s, she would serve food and drinks to patrons. (Tr. 14)

Petitioner testified that on February 10, 2016, she leaned forward to 1ift a heavy, comatose
patient when she experienced pain and numbness in her whole body. (Tr. 15) Four hours later, she
went to Respondent’s emergency room where she complained of neck pain and bilateral shoulder
pain that radiated to her lower back after assisting with pulling a patient onto a cart at work. (PX3)
After he examined Petitioner, the ER physician prescribed light-duty work,. Hydrocodone, and

Cyclobenzaprine, and advised her to follow up with Employee Health. (PX3)
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Petiﬁoﬁer saw Al‘.ldre‘ﬁ-f' Gfeene, M.D., at Christ Employee Health .on Febl;uary 11, 2016.
Dr. Greene found muscle spasms over her lumbar and thoracic spine. Petitioner was tender to
palpation of the shoulders. Dr. Greene diagnosed strains of the lumbar and thoracic spine. He
advised Petitioner to stay home for two days and to return to work on light duty on February 13,
2016. He prescribed Flexe%il and Ibuprofen. Petitioner continued on these medications and
performed light-duty work until February 22, 2016, at which time Dr. Greene advised her to try tb
return to regular di}ty. On February 29, 2016, Petitioner advised Dr. Greene that she was
performing regular-duty work with little difficulty. Dr. Greene gave Petitioner a home stretching
program and discharged her from care. (PX3)

Petitim‘ler testified that between February 29, 2016 and April 6, 2016 she experienced
constant pain from her neck to low back with headaches while performing her usual job duties,
(Tr. 18)

Petitioner testified that on April 6, 2016, as she was bending at the waist and leaning over
a stretcher to pick up a patient, her previous pain recurred. (Tr. 19) That evening, she presented to

Respondent’s emergency room where the staff took the following HPI:

“Patient is a 33-year-old female history of upper back pain (sic), presenting
with similar complaints. Patient states she was transferring a patient care oh
4 PM (sic) she felt a ‘pull’ in her left upper back. Patient states this is stmilar
to her pain in the past. Patient states the pain is now giving her a mild aching
headache. Patient denies any neurological symptoms such as numbness, tingling,
shooting pains down either extremity, vision changes. Patient was seen eatly Feb-

ruary for similar complaints.” {(PX3)
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The ER physician examined her, gave her medication, and advised her to follow up with
Employee Health. (PX3)

Petitioner saw Dr. Greene at Employee Health on April 7, 2016, who prescribed Ibuprofen,
Norco, and light-duty work. Petitioner was off work on April 7, 8, 9 and 10 because Respondent
could not accommodate the restriction of no use of the [eft arm. (Tr. 21) On April 11, 2016, Dr.
Greene renewed her medications and prescribed physical therapy and light-duty work. Petitioner
returned to work on a light duty basis. (Tr. 21, PX5)

On May 2, 2016, Petitioner complained to Dr. Greene of worsening neck pain that radiated
through her left arm. Upon examining Petitioner, Dr. Greene found 90 degrees of abduction in the
left arm. He continued his prescription for physical therapy and medication. He took Petitioner
off work, (Tr. 25, PX5)

On May 23, 2016, Dr. Greene advised Petitioner to continue with the medication and
physical therapy. He released Petitioner to light-duty work with no lifting over five pounds.
Respondent did not provide work within those restrictions. (Tr. 25, PX35) Petitioner testified after
May 2, 2016, she never retumned to work for Advocate Christ Hospital. (Tr. 23)

On May 23, 2016, Dr. Greene gave Petitioner a list of orthopedic surgeons to see for
treatment. She chose Dr. Lim but Respondent made an appointment for her to see Dr. Leonard, a
shoulder surgeon. {Tr. 52)

On June 1, 2016, Michael Olschansky, Dr. Leonard’s Physician’s Assistant, noted
Petitioner complaints of 10/10 neck pain radiating into the left arm. He ordered a cervical spine
MRI and referred Petitioner to Dr. Lim. (PX4) MR images of the cervical spine were taken at
Advocate Christ Hospital on June 15, 2016 was interpreted as showing a broad-based dise

osteophyte complex at C5-6 with a larger focal central disc extrusion that mildly impresses upon
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the ventral cord Wlth :rlrﬁliid‘ caﬁa;l stenosis. The interpretation of the iméges at C6—7 was that
Petitioner had a focal central/left paracentral disc protrusion which contacts the adjacent cord.
(PX4)

Petitioner saw Richard D. Lim, M.D., for the first time on June 24, 2016. Dr. Lim noted
radiating pain in the bilateral upper extremities and in the left leg. Aftera review of the MRI fitms
of June 15, 2016, Dr, Lim ordered a cervical spine epidural steroid injection and released Pe_titioher
to return to work with no use of the left arm and no overhead work. Petitioner returned to Dr. Lim
on September 2, 2016, after having undergone the steroid injection to the cervical spine. Dr. Lim
noted no improveméut and discussed further options including surgery. Dr. Lim noted that
Petitioner would like to try a second epidural injection. He prescribed Norco and a topical pain
cream to see if it would help her symptoms. (PX4) Dr. Lim released Petitioner to returm to work
with no work above the shoulders. Petitioner testified that she was given a sheet of i)aper that
described her restrictions after each visit and that a copy was placed next to the fax machine in Dr.
Lim’s outer office. Petitioner testified that she was given z fax confirmation after each visit. (Tr.
31) Petitioner further testified that Dr. Lim’s staff gave her the file and the fax confirmation
number each time she visited and allowed her to compare it with the number at Advocate Health
to see if the fax went through. (Tr. 53-54)

On October 14, 2016, Petitioner obtained a second opinion from Howard An, M.D., at
Midwest Orthopedics at Rush. (PX6) Dr. An reviewed the MRI films prior to his examination of
Petitioner. Dr. An found some disc degeneration at C5-6 and C6-7 with some foraminal stenosis
on the left. He did not find significant central canal stenosis or spinal cord compression. Dr. An

recommended continued physical therapy and medication. Dr. An opined that should Petitioner
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fail to respond to conservative care, she should receive a second epidural steroid injection, and, as
a last resort, a cervical fusion from C5 to C7. (PX6).

Petitioner returned to Dr. Lim on November 23, 2016. Dr. Lim ordered a repeat MRI study
of the cervical spine and prescribed Norco. Dr. Lim advised Petitioner to remain off work. (PX4)
Petitioner testified that while she was off work for Respondent between May 2, 2016 and
November 23, 2016, she continued to work at Miller’s Ale House. She stopped working at Miller's
on November 26, 2016, based on Dr. Lim’s advice. (Tr. 35)

Petitioner underwent a repeat MRI on December 8, 2016 at Advocate Christ Hospital. The
radiologist interpreted the images as showing, at C5-6, a degenerative uncovertebral disc bulge,
central disc extrusion with inferior and supenior migration that indents the ventral thecal sac and
the anterior spinal cord. There was moderate central canal stenosis, and mild bilateral
neurcforaminal stenosis. The radiologist interpreted the images as showing, at C6-7, a mild
degenerative uncovertebral disc bulge, with no central canal stenosis, no neuroforaminal stenosis.
(PX4)

Dr. Lim reviewed the repeat MRI on December 9, 2016 and recommended surgery to
relieve the spinal cord compression secondary to an acute disc herniation at C5-6. He explained
the potential risks associated with the condition left untreated, including paralysis. Petitioner was
hesitant to undergo surgery at that time as she wanted to return to work. He advised her against
any type of patient lifting or transfers or overhead work. He recommended that she perform low
impact exercises such as the Stairmaster, exercise bike or swimming. He released Petitioner to a
primarily sedentary-type job. (PX4)

Petitioner testified that on December 15, 2016, Dr. Wellington Hsu, an orthopedic surgeon,

examined her, Petitioner testified that her workers’ compensation benefits were stopped after she
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saw Dr. Hsu. As she is the head of the household, and lives by herself, she began looking for
another job. {Tr. 36) She saw Dr. Lim on January 4, 2017, whp seleased her to a sitting job and
renewed her medications.

Petitioner testified that she started employment with Advocate Health System as a Patient
Service Representative on January 16, 2017. (Tr. 37) She works in a seated position. wﬁiie she
answers phone calls from patients and helps them schedule appointments. (Tr. 37) She works an
8-hour day (8 a.m. to 4:30 p.m.), and a 4.0—hour week. on Mondays, Tuesdays, Thursdays, ?Lidays
and Saturdays. (T%. 38) She leaves her house at 5:30-6:00 a.m. so that she may avoid trafﬁé. She
testified that her morming commute i1s I-1% hours long. (Tr. 38-39). Petitioﬁer ‘tesﬁfied that,
previously, her shifts at Miller’s Ale House ended at 11:00-1 1';30 p.ﬁ}., which allowed her to get
enough sleep prior _to her 2:00 p.n. starting time at Respondent. However, the starting fime of
8:00 a.m. at her new job did nﬁt allow her fo get enough sleep. to do both jobs. She testified that
she would get home from Miller’s at 12:00-12:30 a.m. Petitioner testified that she workéd a few
hours training staff at leler s in February and March 2017. (PX1) She testzﬁed that she had to
stop working the part -time hours at Miller’s because it got very physical on her body and she was
extremely tired going from one job to another. (Tr. 46-47)

Petitioner festiﬁed that she currently, her job in Rosemont has gotteg “really heavy,” and
that she has to sténd up several times a day to stretch. She testified that her left side - from the top
of her shoulder through .her arm to her feet - goes numb. She also feels tingling gnd pain, and a
lot of cramping in her'legs.. She experiénces numbness in the entire left side of h.er body. She
sometimes types with only her ﬁgh‘t hand when she experiences numbness in her left hand._ She
experiences constant headacﬁes. (Tr. 47-49). Petitioner wishes to proceed with the epidural

injection and physic'a_l therapy that Dr. Lim ha_s prescribed. (Tr. 50)
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Deposition of Dr. Richard Lim
Petitioner’s Ex. #8

Direct Examtnation

Richard D. Lim, M.D,, testified that he is a board-certified spine surgeon. (PX8, p. 5) He
first saw Petitioner on June 24, 2016, after she had undergone an MRI examination of the cervicai
spine. (Id., p. 7). He personally reviewed the films (Id., p. 10), which showed a central herniation
at C5-6 causing spinal cord impingement and a hemiated disc at C6-7, which was eccentric to the
left. (Id., p. 7) Examination revealed a decreased range of flexion, extension and rotation of the
cervical spine. Petitioner has 4/5 weakness in her left wrist. She also had a positive Spurling’s test
on the left, which is indicative for a pinched nerve. (Id., p. 10) After conducting an examination
and reviewing the MRI films, Dr. Lim diagnosed Petitioner as having hemiated disks at C5-6 and
C6-7 with radiculopathy. (Id., p. 11) Dr. Lim causally related Petitioner’s symptoms to her work
injuries in February and April 2016. (Id.) Dr. Lim expressed concern that Petitioner demaonstrated
long tract signs in the left leg which was most likely assoctated with spinal cord impingement
secondary to disc herriiation. (Id.) He prescribed sedentary duty with no use of the left arm or
overhead work and an epidural steroid injection. (Id., p. 13)

Petitioner returned to Dr. Lim on September 2, 2016 after receiving an epidural steroid
injection. Petitioner complained that her symptoms had not improved. Her physical examination
was unchanged. (Id.}) Dr. Lim prescribed a topical cream to see if it helped, to be followed by a
second epidural injection. (Id., p. 14) Dr. Lim restricted Petitioner from overhead work. (Id.)

Dr. Lim testified that Petitioner returned to him on November 23, 2016, and reported that
she did not receive a second epidural steroid injection due to lack of authorization. (Id., pp. 15-
16). Dr. Lim took Petitioner off work, prescribed Norco and ordered a repeat cervical spine MR

Such repeat MRI was done on December 8, 2016. (Id., p. 16) Dr, Lim found, on December 9, 2016,

7



that the repeat MRI confirmed the presenée ofaC5-6 disc hel:niatioh with spinal cord compréssion.
There was moderate stenosis and a C6-7 disc protrusion. (Id., p. 17) Dr. Lim recommended surgical
intervention because of the spinal cord compression. He placed Petitioner on sedentary duty. (Id)

Petitioner reported no improvement on J énuary 4, 2017. Her examination and diagnoﬂs
-remained unchanged. Dr Lim égaih preséribed surgery based on an MRI that clearly showing a
disc herniation with nerve root impingement and mild cord abutment of the disc. Dr. Lim explained
that at the normal disc levels, the anteroposterior diameter of the spinal column was 12 millimeters.
At the level with spinal cord impingement, the anteroposteriof diameter was 6 millimeters due to
significant neural impingeﬁneﬁt. (4., p 19) He orcfél'ed physicéi therapy and advised Pétitioner
that she could perform sedentary duty at a new position at a call center. (1d.)

Dr. Lim opined that Petitioner’s subjective complaints correlate .with_ her physical
examination and MRI findings. (Id., p. 20) He also opined that a causal connection éxists between
the accidents of February 10, 2016 and April 6, 2016 and Petitioner’s condition of ill-being. The

cervical disc heriations were a direct result of the combined injuries. (Id., p. 21)

Cross-Examination
Dr. Lim ftestiﬁed that the C5-6 dermatome goes into the forea_nns to the dorsum or back
side of the wrist and results in the.weakness of the wrist that he found on examination. (Id., p. 24)
The C6-7-dermatome goés to the triceps region. (Id., p. 25) Dr. Lim testified that Petitioner’s disk
herniations are central, which can produce symptoms bilaterally, although the C5-6 hemiation is
eccentric to the left. (Id., p. 25) Dr. Lim testified that he would recommend surgery to a patient if

the radiculopathy followed the findings of the MRI studies. (Id., pp. 25-26)
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Dr. Lim could noi opine as to whether or not Petitioner was capable of working as a server
in a restaurant without knowing her exact job duties (Id., p. 28) because some servers only take
orders and other people bring the food out. (Id., p. 27) Dr. Lim stated that he has not seen Petitioner
since January 4, 2017 at which time she did not want to have surgery. (Id., p. 30) Dr. Lim testified
that his chart notes lead him to believe that he personally reviewed the two MRI examination films

because he makes a notation when he reviews only the report. (Id., p. 31)

Re-Direct Examination
Dr. Lim opined that Petitioner has exhausted non-surgical care (Id., p. 32) but that it would
not be unreasonable for her to attempt a second epidural steroid injection to relieve her symptoms.

(1d., p. 33) He prescribed physical therapy on January 4, 2017 to ameliorate her symptoms, (Id., p.

34)

Deposition of Dr. Wellington Hsu
Resp. Ex. #1

Wellington K. Hsu, M.D., testified that he was board-certified as an orthopedic surgeon in
2010, (RX1, p. 5) He spends 10% of his work week performing examinations for litigation
purposes. (Id., p. 6) He personally obtained a history from Petitioner on December 15, 2017, in
which she complained only of neck pain and headaches with no pain elsewhere following her two
work accidents. (Id., p. 8) On examination, Dr. Hsu found a decreased range of lumbar motion but
he suspected that Petitioner did not give a full effort. (1d., p. 9) He found two positive Waddell
signs. The neurological examination of the spine was grossly normal but he found that the strength

shown on examination was inconsistent with her ability to walk. (Id., p. 10) The examination of

the cervical spine was normal. (Id.}
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Dr. Hsu reviewed the films and report of the MRI of June 15, 2016, but only the report and
not the films of the repeat MRI of December 8, 2017. (Id,, p. 11) Prior to his examination of
Petitioner, he reviewed the office notes of Dr. Lim and Dr. An, as well as the surveillance videos.
(1d.)

Dr. Hsu opined that the MRI study of June 15, 2016 showed posterior osteophyte
complexes (bone spurs) at C5-6 and C6-7 that caused moderate canal stenosis at C5-6 and mild
stenosis at C6-7. (Id., p. 12) He also reviewed surveillance video clips from May, July and
November 2016 that showed Petitioner running errands, getting in and out of a car, bending,
twisting, lifting and moving without difficulty, doing laundry, serving food and dancing at a bar.
(1d)

Dr. Hsu opined that the accidents of February and April caused soft tissue cervical strains.
(1d., p. 13) He further opined that the symptoms that Petitioner described to him were secondary
to a pre-existiﬁg cervical spondylotic condition that was in no way related to her work-related
injuries. (Id.) Dr. Hsu disagreed with the notion that Petitioner had acute herniated discs. He
opined that Petitioner suffers from unrelated bone spurs that have formed over a period of time
(1d., p. 14) and that Petitioner suffered only cervical strains from her work injuries. (Id.) Dr. Hsu
opined that Petitioner recovered from her cervical strains and was at MMI for her work-related
injuries six weeks after the accident of April 6, 2016. Dr. Hsu testified that since Petitioner was
still symptomatic from her unrelated cervical spondylosis, he would treat her with physical therapy
and epidural injections with surgery as a last resort. (Id., p. 17) Dr. Hsu found that Petitioner could
work in an unrestricted fashion based upon his examination. He did not need the surveillance video

to reach that conclusion. (1d., p. 18)

10
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Cross-Examination

Dr. Hsu testified that he performs 4-8 Section 12 examinations per week. He receives exam
requests from third-party companies such as MES, Exam Works, Corvel and MCN. (1d., p. 22)
The report in this case was addressed to a Ms. Salazar, who propounded a number of interrogatories
to be answered by him. (Id., p. 26, Dep. Ex. 2)

Dr. Hsu testified that he did not review any medical records after the November 23, 2016
chart note of Dr. Lim. (RX1, p. 24) He did not review the films of the updated MRI of the cervical
spine that were taken on December 8, 2016. (Id., p. 27) He did review the report and agreed with
the conclusion of the radiologist. (Id., p. 28)

Dr. Hsu testified that compression of the cord from a moderate cervical stenosis could
produce arm pain, neck pain, difficulty with balance or walking. (Id.} Dr. Hsu testified that
Petitioner did not complain to him of a radiating left arm pain at the time of his examination, but
he did not have his handwritten notes from the examination. (Id., p; 30)

Dr. Hsu testified that a spondylosis or bone spurs can be aggravated or made symptomatic

by trauma. (Id, pp. 31-32) If Petitioner were his patient, he would send her for physical therapy

and perhaps a second epidural injection.

Re-Direct Examination
Dr. Hsu opined that the accidents of February 10, 2016 and April 6, 2016 did not aggravate
her spondylosis based on the low impact mechanism of the accidents, as well as on the symptoms
described and activity performed after those injuries. (Id., p. 33) Dr. Hsu saw no evidence of any

cervical spine condition prior to the two accidents. (Id., p. 34) -
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' ' Re-Cross Examination e '

Dr. Hsu opined that the two accidents did not cause pre-existing coﬁditions to becomé

symptomatic. It is not his testimony that the spondylosis coincidentally and spontaneously became

symptomatic on the dates of accident. (Id., p. 35) He considered each of these accidents to be a

low impact accident, as opposed to high impact accident, such as a rollover car accident. (Id., p.

33)

Further Re-Direct Examination
Dr. Hsu opined that the work-related injuries caused soft tissue injuries and that at some
point the soft tissue injuries resolved and that her umelated'spondylosis was currently responsible

for her continued symptoms. (Id., p. 37)

Brett Weinstein

Mr. Weinstein testified that he was Petitioner’s manager at Miller’s Ale House. (Tr. 93)
Weinstein testified that P.etitioner advised him of her occupational injuries at Advocate as early as
February 2016. Petitioner broﬁght restricted-duty slips, which Weinstein implemented; he made
sure Petitioner followed the restricted-duty guidelines. (Tr. 98) Weinstein modified her job so that
she did not carry .anything heavy. (Tr. 100) Petitioner was terminated in December 2016 and April
2017, because the scheduling computer automatically terminates any employee who does not
schedule a shift for 30 days. (Tr. 106)

On cross-examination, Weinstein stated that Petitioner requested modified work after her
injuries at Christ Hospital. As a server, Petitioner had the option of serving dinners one plate at a

time. (Tr. 108} Wein_étein testified that although Respondent tailored Petitioner’s job duties to
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whatever the doctor's note said, they would not be able to provide modified-duty work for someone

with a “no work™ restriction, or a “sitting work only” restriction from his or her doctor, (‘Tr. 109)

Catherine Love

Ms. Love testified that she has been the manager of the Patient Transport and Equipment
Distribution Department for 15 years. (Tr. 112) Petitioner was one of her employees. There is
light- duty work available within her department. (Tr. 114) Love testified that she will always
accept a light-duty associate because the injured employee’s wages are charged to workers’
compensation and are not taken out of her department budget. (Tr. 122) Love takes her directives
on light-duty issues from Kim Salazar, who is the manager in charge of workers’ compensation.
{(Tr. 122). If Salazar gave Love paperwork that Petitioner could work in her department, she would
provide !ight-rduty work as long as she could keep Petitioner in the department. (Tr. 122-123) Love
testified that she was not provided a note stating Petitioner could return to work after September
2016. (Tr. 123)

Cross-Examination

Love testified that she never communicated a light-duty job or the availability of light duty
directly to Petitioner unless the job were sent to her by Kim Salazar. The light-duty slips went to
Salazar and she would then contact Love to implement the li ght-dut-y work. (Tr. 133) Love does
not contact injured employees to notify them to come in for light-duty work. She believes Salazar
is the one who communicates the availability of light duty to injured employees. (Tr. 134)
Everything concerming light duty 1s routed through Salazar. {Tr. 134} Love did receive an email
froaﬁ Salazar on November 21, 2016 communicating a transitional work agreement for Petitioner.

Love believed Salazar was also sending such agreement to Petitioner. Prior to November 21, 2016,

13
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she had last received a transitional work note from Salazar coﬁcerﬁing Petitioner in April 2016.
(Tr. 135)
Surveillance Films

Respondent offered surveillance video of Petitioner serving food at Milier’s Ai¢ House,
doing iaundfy at a laundromat, running miscellaneous errands, and danciﬁg at a bar. (RX2, RX3)
Petitioner was shown bendiﬁg approximately 45 degre.es at the Waist, piéking up a jug of ﬁqﬁid
laundry detergent hﬁmg pieces of laundry a httie above shoulder lev el, and pushing a young
woman 1 a wheclcha;r The video was taken over several months in 2016 The last date of

surveillance was November 1 0, 2016.

FINDINGS OF FACT & CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
16WC 17561 axp 16WC 17562-(CONSOLIDATED)

(F) IS PETITIONER’S CURRENT CONDITION OF ILL-BEING CAUSALLY RELATED T{) THE
INJURY” _

The Arbitrator ﬁflds that.Petitioner’s current condition of iii—being is causally related to the
accidental injurie.s of Pebruafy 10, 2016. and Apﬁl 6, 2016. |

The Arbltrator finds the op:mons of Richard D. Lxm M.D., that Petitioner’s disc
hemzanom at CS 6 and C6-7 are causakly related to the combined injuries, to be persuasive. (PX8,
p. 21) Dr. Lim testiﬁed that Petitioner’s subjective c_omplaints of a fadiating cervical pain with
numbness éofrelate directly wiﬂ1 the disc ?aﬂlology based upon his under's'tandilng of spi'nal cord
compression, disc compression and radiculopathy. (PX8, p. 20). The Arb%tratof allso finds that Dr. |
Lim’s opinion is consistent with the chain of events.

A chain of events which demonstrates a previous condition of good health, an accident,

and a subsequent injury resulting in disability may be sufficient circumstantial evidence to prove
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a causal nexus bet:ween tﬁ.é.ac.cide.nt and the employee’s injury. International Harvester v. Indus,
Comm’n, 93 1. 2d 59, 63-64 (1982)

In the case at bar, there is no history of any pre-existing complaints or medical care relating
to the cervical spine. Prior to the accident, Petitioner worked full time for Respondent and as a
server at Miller’s Ale House on her days off from Respondent. She sustained two accidents to her
cervical spine for which she has received consistent medical care up through the date of arbitration.
Petitioner has never returned to her pre-accident baseline condition of well-being.

Moreover, there is no evidence of any intervening, non-work-related injury to Petitioner’s
cervical spine that broke the causal chain.

The Arbitrator notes that Dr. Lim’s curriculum vitae states that he is President-Elect of
Respondent, Advocate Christ Medical Center. (PX8, Dep. Ex. 1, p. 2}

The Arbitrator finds the opinion of Wellington K. Hsu, M.D., that Petitioner sustained
cervical sprains which resolved six weeks after the accidents, to be unpersuasive. (RX1, p. 13)
Furthermore, the Arbitrator finds unconvincing the testimony of Dr. Hsu that Petitioner’s current
symptoms are the result of an unrelated cervical spondylotic condition that became symptomatic
“at some point” after she received treatment for her soft tissue injuries. (RX1, p. 36), Both Dr, Lim
and the radiologist at Respondent’s hospital viewed the repeat MRI and found that an extruded
disk, and not an osteophyte complex, indented the thecal sac and the anterior spinal cord.

Dr. Hsu’s opinion is also contrary to the chain of events which shows a condition of well-

being followed by two accidents that resulted in consistent symptoms in the neck and left arm.
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() WERE THE MEDICAL SERVICES THAT WERE RENDERED TO PET:%IO&E’;# REASONABLE

AND "{ECESSARY" HAS RESPONDENT PAID ALL APPROPRIATE CH ARGES FDR ALL

REASONABLE AND NECESSARY MEDICAL SERVICES?

Petitioner submitted the bill of Dr. Lim in the amount of $161.72 for follow-up visits on
January 4, 2017 and April 5,2017. (PX9) Respondent objected to liability. (Tr. 151)

Based on his findings and conclusions on the issue of causation, the Arbitrator finds that
Petitioner is entifled to receive from Respondent $161.72 for the medical services rendered to her
by Dr. Lim, pursuant to Section 8(a) and subject to Section 8.2 of thé Act. |

Petitioner submitted the bill of Midwest Orthopedic Consultants in the amount of
$3,224.98 for a topical analgeéic compound cream, flurbiprofen, which was prescribed by Dr. Lim
on September 2, 2016 to help relieve Petitioner’s pain. (PXS, p. 14, PX10) Respondent submitted
intt_) evidence a utilization review report that was authored by Grace Hunter, D,Q., an osteopatlﬁc

physician. Dr. Hunter is board-certified in physical medicine and rehabilitation. (RX4) Dr.

Hunter, citing ODG guidelines, non-certified payment for the medication. Dr. Hunter wrote:

“There is little to no research to support many of these agents. Any compounded product that
contains at least one drug (or drug class) that is not recomménded is not recommended. The use
of these compounded agents requires knowledge of the specific analgesic effect of each agent and
how it will be useful for the specific therapeutic goal required. Custom compounding and
dispensing of combinatiéns of medicines that have never been studied is not recommended, as

there is no evidence to support their use and there is potential for harm.” (RX4)

There is no evidence that Petitioner actually applied the flurbiprofen topical cream.

There is no evidence that Dr. Lim contacted Dr. Hunter to discuss the matter.
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Based on the foregoing, the Arbitrator denies payment of $3,224.98 by Respondent to

Petitioner for a topical analgesic compound cream, flurbiprofen, which was prescribed by Dr. Lim.

(K) IS PETITIONER ENTITLED TO PROSPECTIVE MEDICAL CARE?

Dr. Lim testified that it would not be unreasonabie to attempt a second epidural steroid
injection and more physical therapy prior to surgery. (PX8, p. 33) Dr. Lim recommended surgical
intervention because of the spinal cord compression.

Dr. Hsu, setting aside the issue of causal connection, testified that if Petitioner were his
patient, he would prescribe more physical therapy and send Petitioner for a second epidural

injection. (RX1, p. 32) Dr. Hsu would consider surgery to be a last resort after Petitioner had

exhausted conservative care. (RX1, p. 31)

The Arbitrator notes that Dr, Lim and Dr. Hsu agree on the best course of treatment for

Petitioner.

Based upon his findings and conclusions on the issue of causation, the Arbitrator finds that
Respondent is liable for prospective medical care in the form of additional physical therapy and a

second epidural steroid injection, as prescribed by Dr. Lim.

(L)  WHAT TEMPORARY BENEFITS ARE IN DISPUTE?

Petitioner did not claim any temporary disability benefits following the first accident of

February 10, 2016, case number 16WC 17561. (AX1)
For the second accident of April 6, 2016, case number 16WC 17562, the parties stipulated

that Petitioner had an average weekly wage of $817.22 that included her average weekly wage of

17
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$525.11 from Respondent combined with her average weékly wage of $292.11 from her
concurrent employment at Miller's Ale House. (AX2)

Petitioner was authorized off work from April 7, 2016 through April 10, 2016 (4/7 week)
by Dr. Greene at Employee Health (PX5) and is entitled to TTD benefits for that period.

Petitioner testified that she was again taken off work by Dr. Greene at Employee Health on
May 2, 2016 and then placed on light duty on May 23, 2016. (PX5) |

On June 1, 2016, P.A. Olschansky at Midwest Orthopedic Consultants (PX4) took
Petitioner off work until Dr. Lim saw her on June 24, 2016. (3-2/7 weeks). Petitioncr camme under
the care of Dr. Lim on June 24, 2016, who prescribed light-duty work until November 23, 2016 at
which time he took Petitioner off work. (Tr. pp. 33-34) On December 9, 2016, Dr. Lim released
Petitioner to a sitting job.

Dr. Hsu examined Petitioner on December 15, 2016 and opined that Petitioner could have
returned to regular work from her cervical strain injury approximately six weeks after the accident.
The Arbitrator, having found that Dr. Hsu’s causal connection opinions are not persuasive as to
the _néture of the injuries sustained, finds Dr. Hsu’s opinion as to the attainment of maximum
medical improvement to be unconvincing.

The Arbitrator viewed the surveillance videos and does not find any instance where
Petitioner exceeded her light-duty restrictions or demonstrated any activity that exceeded her
stated limitations to her treating docfors. However, from a layman’s point of view, the Arbitrator
finds that Petitioner did not demonstrate any pain behaviors such as grimacing, stretching, or
ubbing her neck, left arrh or left hand, or “shaking out” her left hand.

Petitioner testified on direct examination that she stopped working at Miller’s Ale House

vecause of the toll it was taking on her and the shortened hours of sleep. She testified that on the
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nights that she worked, she did not leave Milier’s Ale House until 11:00-11:30 p.m. However, on
cross-examination, Respondent asked her about six instances in which she clocked out before
11:00 p.m. (Tr. 56-58)

With regard to her home address, Petitioner testified as to the discrepancy between her
testimony on direct and the paperwork she completed for Miller’s Ale House in February 2017,
 Petitioner testified that she lived in Wheeling temporasily - - in January and February of 2017, (Tr.
58-60, 80-81)

Petitioner testified that she continued working at Miller's Ale House from May 2, 2016 to
November 26, 2016. Brett Weinstein, her manager, testified that Miller’s could accommodate the
restrictions from Dr. Lim with the exception of the off-work restriction of November 23, 2016 and
the sitting restriction of December 9, 2016. (Tr., p. 109)

Respondent paid Petitioner TTD benefits from November 23, 2016 through December 22,
2016. (Tr. 140)

The issue presented is whether Respondent made light-duty work available to Petitioner
from May 2, 2016 through November 22, 2016 (29-2/7 weeks) and from December 9, 2015
through January 15, 2017 (5-3/7 weeks). Petitioner testified that she was given a sheet of paper
that described her restrictions after each visit and that a copy of that sheet was placed next to the
fax machine in Dr. Lim’s outer office. Petitioner testified that she was given a fax confirmation
after each visit. (Tr. 31)

However, at arbitration, Petitioner did not produce such fax confirmations.

Petitioner further testified that Dr. Lim’s staff gave her the file and the fax confirmation

number each time she visited and allowed her to compare it with the number at Advocate Health
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to see if the fax went through. (Tr. 53-54) The Petitioner did not know to whom the ﬁodiﬁed or
off-work slips were faxed.

The Arbitrator notes that the off or restricted-duty work slips submitted info evidence by
Petitioner (PX4) and by Respondent (RX35) indicate that the insurance company was Advocate
Riskc Management and that the contact person there was Kim Salazar, whose fax number appears
on every such slip.

The Arbitrator makes the reasonable inference that the staff for Dr. Lim, who is President-
Elect of Respoﬁdent, faxed Petitioner’s work resirict%on slips to Respondent.

Catherine Love, Petitioner’s department manager, testified that Ms. Salazar in the manager
of workers’ compensation for Respondent. {Tr. 139} Love testified that she had light-duty work
available for Petitioner but that she must take her directions from Kim Salazar, manager of
workers’® compensation, as to whom light-duty work is made availabie. (Tr. 122) Love testified
that she never communicated a light-duty job to Petitioner unless being told to do so. (Tr. 133)
The standard procedure was that the light-duty work slips were sent to Kim Salazar, who would
then contact Love to implement the light duty. (Tr. 134) Love testified that everything conceming
light-duty work is routed through Salazar. (Tr. 134) L.ove did receive an email from Salazar
conceming light-duty work for Petitioner on November 21, 2016, which was two days before Dr.
Lim took Petitioner off work compiétely. (Tr. 134) Prior to that, Love testified that she last
received an e:ﬁail from Salazar concernjng light-duty work for Petitioner in April 2016.

Respondent did not call Kim Saiézar .t.o tesiify as to aﬁy dffers of light—duty made to
Petitioner. Aithough Love had mddiﬂed work availaéﬂé fo.Petitioner, Respondént’s.précedure,
according to department maﬁager Love, was that offers of modified-duty originated from Salazar.

Love did not hear from Salazar from April 2016 to November 21, 2016.
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Petitioner testified that after she was given light-duty restrictions on Apnl 18, 2016, she
did not think to call the hospital to see if they had any wqu for her as of September 2, 2016. (Tr.
55-56) Petitioner testified that Kim Salazar left a voice mail message for her, but instead of
returning to work, she saw Dr. Lim, who changed her restrictions from no working above the
shoulder to completely off work. (Tr. 65-606)

On December 9, 2016, Dr. Lim released Petitioner to return to work at a sitting job.
Respondent offered no evidence that such work was offered to Petitioner and Weinstein testified
that Miller’s could not provide sitting-only work. Petitioner started a sitting job within the
Advocate Health System on January 16, 2017. Petitioner lost time from working at Miller’s
beginning on November 26, 2016 and carrying through February S, 2017, when she retumed to
work, contrary to her sitting job restrictions. Petitioner worked at Miller’s for six weeks from
February 6, 2017 until March 19, 2017, when she quit because work became very painful for her
and she had a lack of sleep. Petitioner submitted her payroll records from Miller’s for the period

in question. (PX1) Her earnings at Miller’s were as follows:

Pay Period Ending | Gross Eamings
02/12/2017 $30.94
02/15/2017 $24.75
02/26/2017 591.58
03/03/2017 $50.74
03/19/2017 _ $59.74
03/25/2017 $45.13

$302.88 |

Petitioner did not work at Miller’s during the week of March 6 through March 12, 2017.
Based on the above, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner is entitled to receive from

Respondent the following amounts in temporary total disability and temporary partial disability:
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For lost earnings from Respondent: |

1. Temporary total disability beneﬁfs 0f $350.07 per week £§200.04
from April 7, 2016 through April 10, 2016 (4/7 weeks)

2. Temporaty total disability benefits of.$350.07 per week
from May 2, 2016 through January 15, 2017 (37 weeks) $12.952.59

Total TTD due frem employment at Respondent: $13,152.63
For lost earnings at Miller’s Ale House:

1. Temporary total disability benefits at $194.74 per week
from November 27, 2016 through February 5, 2017 (10-1/7 weeks) $1,975.25

2. Temporary total disability benefits at $194.74 per week

from March 6, 2017 through March 12, 2017 (1 week) $194.74
3. Temporary total disability benefits at $194.74 per week

from March 26, 2017 through June 26, 2017 (13-2/7 weeks) $2.587.32

‘Total TTD due from Miller’s Ale House employment: $4,757.31

Temporary Partial Disability benefits as follows:

Period Ending Wé::cf;a\%itge Earnings | 2/3 Lost Wages
1.} 02/12/2017 $292.11 $30.94 $174.11
2.1 02/19/2017 $202.11 $24.75 | §178.24
3.1 02/26/2017 $292.11 $91.58 $133.69
4.1 03/03/2017 §292.11 $50.74 $160.91
5.1 03/19/2017 $262.11 $59.40 $155.14
6.1 03/26/2017 $292.11 $45.13 $164.65

Petitioner is entitled to a total TPD amount of $966.74.

ConNcCLUSION AS To Issug “L”

Petitioner is entitled to receive from Respondent TTD and TPD benefits that total

$18,876.68, as shown above.

Respondent is entitled to a credit in the amount of $10,602.12 for TTD benefits previously

paid to Petitioner.
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STATE OF ILLINOIS }
)SS.
COUNTY OF Cook )

D Injured Workers' Benefit Fund (§4(d))
[ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (38(2))
[ ] Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)

| [X] None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
19(b)
Sladana Radosavac Case # 16 WC 17562
Employee/Petitioner _—
v Consolidated cases: 16WC 17561

Advocate Christ Hospital

Employer/Respondent 1 9 I W C C 0 4 3 .7,

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each

party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Brian T. Cronin, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of
Chicago IL, on 6/26/17. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings
on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document. '

DISPUTER ISSUES

A. D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Iinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

B. [:] Was there an employee-employer relationship?
C. D Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
D. D What was the date of the accident?
E. D Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?
F % Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?
. D What were Petitioner's earnings?

G

H. D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

L. D What was Petitioner’s marital status at the time of the accident?
J.

@ Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

K. @ Is Petitioner entitled to any prospective medical care?

L. & What temporary benefits are in dispute?
X TPD [} Maintenance B TTD
M. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. D Is Respondent due any credit?
0. [Jother

ICArbDecid(h) 2/10 100 W. Randolph Street #3-200 Chicago. IL 60601 312/814-6611  Toll-frec 866/352-3033 - Web site: www.iwce.il.gov
Downstate offices: Collinsvitle 618/346-1450 Peoria 309/671-3019  Rackford 813/987.7292 Springfietd 217/785-7084
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On the date of accident, 4/6/16, Respondent was operating under and subject to the proviéions of the Act.

FINDINGS

On this date, an ernployee—émployer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent. .

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given o Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

In the yeaf preced_ing the injury, Petitioner eamed $42,945.1 1: the average weekly wage was 581 7.22.

On the date of accident, Petitioner wa_s' 33 years of age, single with 0 dependent children.

Respondent ias not paid all reasonable and necessary chérges for all rcésonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $10,602.12 for TTD, $0.00 for TPD, $0.00 for maintenance, and $6.00
for other benefits, for a total credit of $1 0,602.12. : : : '

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $0.00 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER

1. Respondent shall authorize and pay for the physical therapy and the epidural steroid injection to
Petitioner's cervical spine that Dr. Lim has ordered, pursuant to Section 8(a} and subject to Section 8.2
of the Act. .

[28)

Respondent shall pay §161.72 (PX9) to Petitioner for the treatment rendered by Midwest Orthopedic
Consultants, pursuant to Section 8(a) and subject to Section 8.2 of the Act.

3. Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability benefits, in accordance with Section 8(b) of
the Act, of 8350.07 per week for 37-4/7 weeks for the periods commencing April 7, 2016 through April
10, 2016 (4/7), and from May 2, 2016 through January 15, 2017 (37 weeks) for her employment with
Respondent.

4. Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability benefits, in accordance with Section 8(b) of
the Act, of $194.74 per week for 24-3/7 weeks for the periods commencing November 27, 2016 through
February 5, 2017 (10-1/7 weeks), commencing March 6, 2017 through 12, 2017 (I week), and March
26, 2017 through June 26, 2017 (13-2/7 weeks) for her employment at Miller's Ale House.

5. Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary partial disability benefits, as provided in Section 8(a} of the
Act, of $966.74 as calculated in issue (L) of the attached Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law. '

6. Respondent shall be given a credit of $10,602.12 for temporary total disability benefits that have been
paid to Petitioner. _

In no instance shall this award be a bar to subsequent hearing and determination of an additional amount of
medical benefits or compensation for a temporary or permanent disability, if any. '

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petitioﬁ for Review within 30 days after reéeipt of tﬁis
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the

- degision of the Commission. -
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STATEMENT GF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of Payment; however,
if an employee's appeal resills in either no cf ZEya decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

/ 7‘/ T 10/18/17
Signature of Arbitrator  © oo Date

ICArbDec!9(b}

OCT 18 201
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